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Founded in 1978, Domino has 
established a global reputation 
for the development and 
manufacture of coding, marking 
and printing technologies that 
meet the needs of manufacturers 
and set new industry standards  
in quality and reliability.
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Highlights

> Revenue growth of 9 per cent, 4 per 
cent before effect of currencies 

> Operating profit growth before 
exceptional costs of 7 per cent*

> Further increase in Research and 
Development expenditure

> Acquisition of Photon Energy brings 
solid state laser technology to fuel 
future growth in new markets

> Acquisition of Thermal Ink Jet products 
and know-how in aps Alternative 
Printing Services, enhances the 
Group’s product range for core markets

> Continued strong cash generation  
from operations; the Group remains 
cash positive

> Exceptional costs of £8.3 million 
associated with restructuring 
operations, expected to deliver full year 
cost savings of £10 million

> Dividend increased by 20 per cent

*  Operating profit before exceptional costs is £33.6 million (2007: £31.5 million), comprising 
operating profit of £25.3 million (2007: £31.5 million) plus exceptional costs of £8.3 million 
(2007: £nil).
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Product identification

Domino businesses provide a wide range of 
products utilising ink jet, laser and thermal 
printing technologies for product and 
package coding and marking. Continuous Ink 
Jet (‘CIJ’) brands include Domino, Citronix 
and Wiedenbach. These products provide 
reliable, versatile printing capability operating 
in a wide range of production environments 
and applications. Laser products sold 
under the Domino, Sator and Photon 
Energy brands use both gas and solid state 
laser technologies to meet the exacting 
requirements of parts marking in addition 
to general packaging applications. Thermal 
Transfer Overprinting (‘TTO’) products offered 
by both Domino and Easyprint are typically 
used where products are enclosed in flexible 
packaging such as pouches and wrappers. 
Thermal Ink Jet (‘TIJ’) products are the latest 
addition to the Group’s product range.  
APS’ Apsolute printers are sold alongside 
Domino brand TIJ G-Series products and 
provide customers with high print quality 
offering both alphanumeric and machine 
readable (barcode and similar) coding 
capability. Complementing our printing 
capability, Purex air purification systems are 
offered to provide cost effective extraction 
of fumes and particles created by the laser 
coding process.  

Outer case and secondary  
package coding

Printing onto cartons, cardboard boxes, 
trays and other secondary levels of 
packaging, the Group offers a range of 
products under the Domino, Alpha Dot and 
Mectec brands aimed at providing high 
quality barcodes and graphics as well as 
standard alphanumeric coding. The Domino 
range includes Drop on Demand (DOD)  
ink jet technologies using both valve and 
piezo technologies alongside M-Series 
Print and Apply Labelling Machines (PALM) 
for volume applications. The Mectec brand 
of PALM additionally provides solutions  
to meet more complex applications 
including larger scale end of line pallet 
labelling. Both Domino and Mectec PALM 
systems offer RFID enabled solutions for 
product traceability.

Commercial Printing solutions

Domino’s Commercial Printing solutions 
meet the needs of the binding, finishing, 
plastic card and newspaper industries to 
print addresses, barcodes and numbers 
onto products at very high speed and (near) 
letter quality. Domino offers both single jet 
and binary CIJ solutions alongside DOD 
and TIJ based products. Commercial 
Printing applications also often require data 
management and line control. Domino’s 
Editor GT controller solutions provide the 
perfect complement to our printers offering 
customers full control of all aspects of their 
printing and finishing operations.

At a Glance

Total breadth > 
of offering

Total global > 
reach

Through a global network of 25 subsidiary 
offices and in excess of 200 distributors, 
Domino sells to over 120 countries offering 
extensive customer support. 

Operating with true global scale across 
a diverse industry base, including food, 
beverage, pharmaceutical and multiple 
industrial product groups, Domino 
provides customers with proven solutions 
built upon years of extensive experience. 

North America – 17% of turnover
The Domino Group is well established in North America with 
subsidiaries in Canada, USA and Mexico. In addition to full 
sales and service coverage across North America, the Group 
has fluids and printer manufacturing facilities in the USA.

South America – 7% of turnover
Group companies have a network of well established 
distributors providing sales and service support throughout 
South America. The Group’s distributors operate to common 
standards which means that multinational companies and 
OEMs are assured of a high standard of support wherever 
they may be located.

Europe – 42% of turnover
The Group has subsidiary offices in France, Germany, the 
Netherlands, Spain, Sweden and Denmark. Elsewhere, 
customers are supported through a network of well 
established distributors.
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2,238
Worldwide employees

>200
Global distributors

25
International subsidiary offices

>120
Domino sells to over 120 countries

Middle East – 3% of turnover
Domino’s Middle East operations, based in Dubai, support 
local sales in the United Arab Emirates and Domino’s network 
of distributors throughout the Middle East and Africa.

United Kingdom – 8% of turnover
The UK is the Domino Group’s global headquarters including 
its principal manufacturing sites as well as its global R&D 
operations. The UK sales and service business also operates 
out of the Cambridge site.

Asia Pacific – 23% of turnover
Domino has subsidiary operations in China, India, South 
Korea and Australia with an established base of distributors 
serving other regional markets. Products destined for the 
Asia Pacific region are manufactured in Domino’s facility in 
Shanghai, China. Domino also has manufacturing facilities in 
Delhi, India which serve the local market.
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Business Review

Domino celebrates a milestone with the sale  
of the 100,000th A-Series, the world’s best-selling 
CIJ printer, to Tetra Pak. 

Tetra Pak’s coding and packaging solutions are 
sold globally to a wide range of sectors, with 
Domino responsible for the complete servicing at 
end user sites. Domino’s global structure provides 
customers with technicians on hand to offer 
complete support, delivered to Domino’s Global 
Service Standard. 

Garry Havens, Managing Director of Domino UK, 
officially handed over the machine to Jose Luis 
Yecora, Director Supplier Management at Tetra Pak 
Packaging Solutions S.p.A.

Chairman’s Statement

I am pleased to report 
another successful 
year for Domino  
Printing Sciences

>
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I am pleased to report another successful year for Domino Printing 
Sciences.

Sales in 2008 were in excess of £250 million for the first time in the 
Group’s history. We celebrated 30 years in business this year and in 
each of those years we have reported an increase in revenue.

Despite the more uncertain global economic conditions in the second 
half of the year, the fundamental strength of our business has led to 
record results. Revenues grew by 9 per cent of which 5 per cent was 
attributable to favourable foreign currency movements. Reported 
underlying pre-tax profits increased by 7 per cent to £35.3 million*. Net 
cash inflow from operating activities before taxation was £38.5 million.

The Board is recommending a final dividend of 7.68 pence per share, 
which together with the interim dividend of 4.15 pence makes a total 
of 11.83 pence for the year as a whole, an increase of 20 per cent 
over the dividends declared in 2007.

Gross margins before exceptional costs have been maintained  
at 48 per cent and Research and Development expenditure  
before exceptional costs has been increased by 13 per cent to  
£12.8 million.

In June we acquired Photon Energy which specialises in the development, 
manufacture and sale of solid state laser systems used in marking and 
coding. In August we acquired aps Alternative Printing Services which 
develops and markets Thermal Ink Jet printers and consumables. 
In October we acquired the assets of PAT Technology Systems Inc. 
to enhance our air purification and fume extraction business. These 
acquisitions extend the range of products and technologies available to 
us and extend the know-how for further development.

In expectation of continuing weakness in global markets, the cost 
base of the business has been reduced through re-organisation of 
manufacturing and other restructuring. As a result the Group has 
reduced its headcount by approximately 10 per cent. An exceptional 
charge of £8.3 million has been made against the operating profit for 
the year. The full-year saving from these changes is expected to be 
£10 million a year.

There have been a number of Board changes during the year. Two 
of our Non-Executive Directors, Bill Everitt and Peter Jensen, retired 
having completed more than 10 years’ service and I am grateful to 
them for their outstanding contribution to the work of the Board and 
to the success of the Group. We welcome as new Non-Executive 
Directors Chris Brinsmead, who until recently was president of Astra 
Zeneca UK, and Sir David Brown who retired in July as chairman of 
Motorola Limited.

I would like to thank the management and all of our employees for 
their dedication and commitment in making the year a success.

The slow down of the global economy will inevitably have an impact 
on customers’ investment plans. However, the fundamental strength 
of the business and the significant amount of aftermarket revenue 
gives us optimism for the future.

Peter Byrom
Chairman
23 January 2009

*  Underlying profit before taxation is £35.3 million (2007: £33.0 million) comprising profit 
before taxation of £25.2 million (2007: £31.8 million) plus amortisation of acquired 
intangibles of £1.3 million (2007: £0.8 million) plus interest charges on the unwinding of 
discounted contingent consideration of £0.5 million (2007: £0.4 million) plus exceptional 
costs of £8.3 million (2007: £nil).
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Business Review

1990 > 

£45.9M
Global turnover

1980 >

£nil
Global turnover

1978 >

Domino was founded 30 years ago 
to exploit the use and potential of CIJ 
technology in industrial applications. 
Initially used in high speed printing, the 
requirement introduced in the European 
Community for best before date coding 
on perishable goods opened a new 
market for the Group’s CIJ products.

 
The 1990s were a period of expansion for 
the Group – both through new products 
and technologies and through investment 
in global operations. Important milestones 
included the acquisition of gas based 
laser technology in 1994 to complement 
existing ink jet know-how and the 
development and introduction of the now 
world leading Domino A-Series CIJ printer 
range. The Group established further 
direct operations in Europe, the Americas 
and the Middle East and made its initial 
investment in joint venture operations in 
India and China.  

During the 1980s Domino established a 
range of CIJ printers capable of meeting 
the demanding speed and performance 
requirements of manufacturing industry. 
The Domino Codebox and Domino Solo 
product brands became synonymous 
with coding and marking and the 
Domino Array product was established 
as the high speed printer of choice for 
commercial printing applications where 
variable information was added to mass 
produced printed material. The Group’s 
distribution base was established, initially 
in Europe and then in the Americas and 
Asia and the Group’s first subsidiary 
operations were formed, initially in the 
Netherlands and Germany and then in the 
USA through the acquisition of American 
Technologies Inc.

Our five year record

  2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 
  £m £m £m £m £m 
  IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS UK GAAP

Turnover  253.4 231.5 208.4 192.0 178.3
Research and development expenditure  13.7 11.3 10.9 8.3 9.6
Operating profit  25.3 31.5 28.0 27.0 24.5
Profit before taxation  25.2 31.8 28.2 27.3 24.7
Underlying profit before taxation*  35.3 33.0 30.8 27.6 25.4
Earnings  16.6 22.2 20.3 20.0 17.1
Dividends  11.5 9.8 8.1 6.6 6.2

Net cash inflow from operating activities before taxation  38.5 35.1 33.7 29.4 32.9

Shareholders’ funds  128.0 127.1 113.1 99.7 81.7

Shares in issue (average) (000)  110,027 111,409 110,691 110,117 109,438
Shares in issue (year end) (000)  109,089 111,605 111,081 110,363 109,679
Earnings per share (pence)  15.33 20.14 18.60 18.38 15.96
Underlying earnings per share (pence)  22.95 21.04 20.33 18.58 16.78
Dividends per share (pence)  10.55 8.79 7.32 6.10 5.70
Net assets per share (pence)  117.38 113.86 101.79 90.3 74.51

Average number of employees  2,218 2,084 1,836 1,818 1,807

The amounts disclosed for 2004 are stated on the basis of UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (‘UK GAAP’).

*  Underlying profit before taxation is £35.3 million (2007: £33.0 million) comprising profit before taxation of  
£25.2 million (2007: £31.8 million) plus amortisation of acquired intangibles of £1.3 million (2007: £0.8 million)  
plus interest charges on the unwinding of discounted contingent consideration of £0.5 million (2007: £0.4 million)  
plus exceptional costs of £8.3 million (2007: £nil).
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We’ve been 
delivering 
growth 
consistently 
for 30 years

2000 > 

£150.4M
Global turnover

In the period from 2000 to date the 
Group has made acquisitions of 
technologies, product and distribution 
expanding its capability, reach and 
portfolio of solutions. The acquisition 
of Sator Laser was instrumental in the 
development of new scribing laser 
products and this was complemented 
by the addition of Purex, whose air 
extraction products form a part of the 
Group’s integrated safety conscious 
laser coding solutions. The addition of 
the Wiedenbach and Citronix brands of 
CIJ has expanded the Group’s market 
reach and sector coverage and the 
acquisitions of Alpha Dot and Mectec 
have established a strong capability to 
meet the coding requirements of outer 
cases – often including bar codes 
and other machine readable data 
formats. The acquisition of Easyprint 
has provided the Group with a range of 
TTO products capable of addressing 
coding needs where flexible packaging 
materials are used. The move from joint 
venture to wholly owned subsidiary 
operations in India and China has 
enabled further investment and growth 
in the whole Asian region. 

Most recently, in 2008, the Group 
acquired Photon Energy to add 
solid state laser technology, know-
how and products to its range and 
aps Alternative Printing Services, 
a manufacturer and developer of 
Thermal Ink Jet products.

The first 30 years of the Group have 
brought expansion and success 
through innovation, desire and hard 
work. The investment programmes 
and our consistency of purpose 
positions the Group well to continue its 
pursuit of sustained global leadership.

2008 >

£253.4M
Global turnover
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Pioneering 
technology
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technology pioneer for 30 years. 
Through internal development and 
acquisition, the Group continues  
to expand its product portfolio, 
increasing the range of solutions it 
offers to its extensive customer base.
 
The Group’s product range has 
expanded in 2008 with the addition  
of solid state lasers and Thermal Ink 
Jet products through the acquisitions 
of Photon Energy and APS.
 
The addition of these two 
technologies provides new 
opportunities to further develop the 
markets, products and solutions that 
the Group offers around the world.

Pioneering 
technology
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Business Review 

Business Review

This Business Review has been prepared solely to provide additional 
information to shareholders. The Business Review contains statements 
that are forward looking. These statements are made by the directors 
in good faith based on the information available to them up to the time 
of approval of this report. Such statements should be treated with 
caution due to the inherent uncertainties and risks associated with 
forward looking information.

Business overview 
Domino Printing Sciences plc (‘DPS’) develops, manufactures and 
sells a comprehensive range of products and solutions that enable 
manufacturers to code, identify, mark or personalise their products 
and packaging. These decisions are driven by legislation, industry 
directives or company mandates and typically require variable 
information to be applied in real time directly onto products or their 
primary, secondary and tertiary packaging. Codes and marks include 
a mixture of human and machine-readable data, which records 
information about product identity and provenance. The recent focus 
on product safety in the food and pharmaceutical industries worldwide 
has continued to increase demand for product identification and 
coding in particular. We expect this trend to continue. 

Our available market is diverse and widely spread. We supply 
customers operating in a range of market sectors; the largest 
ones being food producers, dairies, beverage manufacturers, 
the pharmaceutical industry, building products, automotive and 
components manufacturers. Our customers are spread across  
the globe and range from the largest multinational companies in  
each of these sectors down to smaller regional or niche product 
suppliers. We tailor our product offering to address the diversity  
of our customer portfolio.

DPS is a global group capable of selling to and supporting customers 
anywhere in the world. The Group has direct sales and service 
operations in many of the major industrial countries; elsewhere we have 
an extensive distributor partnership network, working to the same high 
standards as our direct offices, ensuring we cover the globe.

The business has two main revenue streams: sales of new equipment 
and sales of after market products and services. In 2008, 42 per cent 
of our revenue was derived from the sale of new equipment including 
printers, controllers and air purifiers. Equipment sales are made to new 
customers and for new applications, increasing the installed base of 
DPS products around the world, and to existing customers who are 
upgrading and replacing equipment approaching the end of its useful 
life. The balance of new to existing customers varies by country and 
industry. The remaining 58 per cent of our turnover comes from after 
market products – the inks, spares, services and maintenance that are 
required in day-to-day operation. 

The installed base of DPS printers worldwide is now well in excess of 
200,000 units and continues to grow each year. In 2008, 8 per cent 
of our turnover was derived from the UK, 42 per cent from the rest of 
Europe, 24 per cent from the Americas and 26 per cent from Asia. 
 
Group strategy
The Group’s goal is to continue to increase market share and extend 
our leadership position in the coding and marking business. We have 
three main strands to the strategy to deliver this goal: 

Firstly, we seek to provide our customers with the most 
comprehensive and industry-leading range of products. From the 
early days of DPS when we were a single technology company 
supplying Continuous Ink Jet (‘CIJ’) printers and associated after 
market products we have grown, through a long term commitment to 
research and development and through technology acquisitions, into 
a group supplying a comprehensive range of products. The product 
range is characterised by its high performance and strong reputation 
for reliability and value for money. The Group has products that are 
suitable for applications ranging from low speed simple coding using 
stand alone devices to applications requiring fully integrated coding 
and data management capabilities. With a full range of technologies 

Domino supplies  
extensive after sales 
support globally
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optimising solutions to best meet their needs. 
 
Secondly, we back up our superior product range with a technical and 
customer support organisation that we aim to be second to none in 
our industry. We offer our customers a consistent and high quality level 
of support wherever they are in the world. Our service organisations 
operate to a common Group standard, which is highly valued by 
customers who have manufacturing facilities in multiple locations and 
by the equipment suppliers who install manufacturing lines anywhere 
in the world. This commitment to service is at the heart of our strategy 
to grow our revenues from our existing customer base, whether it is 
through sales of more printers and equipment or developing more 
after market revenues through value adding services. 

Thirdly, we seek to bring product and services together by focusing 
on particular applications within a defined set of market sectors. 
Our product offerings are tailored to provide ‘total solutions’ rather 
than just a printing capability and in so doing we seek to differentiate 
ourselves from our competitors through the added value of a solutions 
approach. This differentiation is further enhanced by our sales 
organisation, where we have specialists for specific market sectors 
and also for specific technology solutions. This approach is particularly 
successful in working as partners with the larger multinational 
businesses whose needs are often more complex and demanding.
 
Thirty years of growth
During 2008 we marked the 30th anniversary of the Company. 
Incorporated in April 1978, the business was listed on the London 
Stock Exchange in 1985 and achieved FTSE 250 status for the first 
time this year. 

Over the past 30 years the Company has produced uninterrupted 
sales growth. DPS was founded on CIJ technology but over the past 
three decades has developed a comprehensive product portfolio,  
sold under a number of brands and addressing a full spectrum of 
variable coding and marking applications across the three main stages 
of product packaging – primary (direct onto the product or first stage 
pack – bottle, can, wrapper, blister, etc), secondary (carton, outer  
case or tray) and tertiary (pallet or container) – and a defined set  
of applications in numbering and addressing in the Commercial 
Printing sector.

There are four principal digital technologies used in primary package 
coding products: CIJ, Laser, Thermal Transfer Overprinting (‘TTO’)  
and Thermal Ink Jet (‘TIJ’). DPS has developed and acquired products 
in each of these technology areas and as a result is able to provide 
solutions suitable for virtually any application. This wide range  
of capability means we are well placed to grow our overall share  
of the business.
 
CIJ remains the most adaptable of all primary coding technologies 
and is used in well over half of all primary coding applications. DPS 
has three brands of CIJ in the market, each with its own distribution 
network. The highest volume brand and world leader is Domino. 
Wiedenbach, our second brand is a low volume, high value specialist 
brand sold into specific industry niches such as cable and wire and 
extrusion. This business was acquired in 2004 and has given DPS 
access to a number of new market sectors and applications. Citronix, 
our third brand, was acquired in 2005 and is growing rapidly by 
addressing the simpler applications with a low cost business model 
suitable for some customers. In combination our three brands of 
CIJ have enabled the Group to grow its overall market share in this 
segment of the business. 
 
In 1994, DPS first offered gas laser coding as an alternative to CIJ. 
Our early entry to the market with laser technology has enabled us to 
build a strong global position and share. Early products all used dot 
matrix technology, which we still supply to a small number of major 
customers for very high speed applications. However, nearly all the 
business today is scribing (steered beam) laser coding and marking.  
In 2003, DPS completed the acquisition of Sator Laser after taking 

In order to increase the quality and speed of case 
label printing, Glenmorangie has recently invested  
in two M-Series print and apply labellers. 

The M-Series offers high quality printing of barcodes 
and product information, ensuring supply chain 
compliance for Glenmorangie at a throughput of  
40 cases per minute.

The M-Series was introduced to enable Domino 
to provide a range of end-to-end coding solutions, 
delivering accurate information and label placement 
without compromising production line speeds.

>

Response Analysis & Mailing (‘RAM’) 
has added a Domino K100 to its 
portfolio of Domino equipment. The 
new ink jet printers provide an ideal 
solution for printing address details 
onto mailers without the need for 
outer wrappers.

RAM, part of the Westex Group, 
has been working with the 
government to raise awareness of 
how even small changes can have 
an effect on climate change. The 
purchase of the K100 will assist 
RAM in their objective of reducing 
waste and increasing efficiency 
wherever possible.

>
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Business Review 

Business Review continued

a majority equity stake in 2001. Sator provides the competence 
to develop and manufacture high quality scribing laser products, 
which are sold under both the Sator and Domino brands. Located in 
Hamburg, Sator is now the centre of our gas laser business. In 2008, 
DPS acquired a further laser business, the Photon Energy Group 
based in Nuremberg. Recognising growing opportunities for solid state 
lasers in product and package marking, the acquisition of Photon 
Energy provides DPS with significant growth potential. The business 
also increases our technology competence and provides opportunities 
to combine know-how with Sator. 

Demonstrating our commitment to total solutions, not just printing, 
in 2004 DPS acquired Purex, a business supplying fume extraction 
equipment, an essential component of a professional laser coding 
installation. Fume extraction and air purification are required where 
substances released during the laser coding process must be 
captured and eliminated from the environment for health and safety 
or contamination reasons. In addition to being sold as a component 
in a laser system, Purex devices are also sold for use with DPS ink jet 
and, through separate dedicated sales channels, for other industrial 
applications. The Purex product portfolio was expanded further 
during 2008 with the acquisition of certain trade and assets from PAT 
Technology Systems Inc. (‘PAT’). Purex now owns the products and 
know-how associated with purification devices used in computer 
to plate printing systems and in wide format ink jet printers. The 
resources of PAT have been combined with Purex to create a North 
American Purex operation based in Montreal, Canada. 
 
DPS entered the TTO business through the acquisition of a Danish 
company, Easyprint, in 2006. By volume and value, the market for 
TTO products is smaller than either CIJ or laser, but it is growing more 
quickly. TTO is particularly capable of meeting coding needs where 
flexible packaging materials are used. The increase in use of plastics, 
pouches and film for both durability and decorative impact means 
increasing numbers of customers are turning to TTO. The Easyprint 
brand, while well regarded, had a relatively low overall market share 
at the time of acquisition. Now distributed through a combination 
of Easyprint’s own and Domino’s distributors, the Group’s TTO 
products offer excellent growth prospects. During 2008 we transferred 
the production of TTO printers from Denmark to our main site in 
Cambridge, generating operational savings for the future and ensuring 
we can provide increased capacity as sales volumes grow.
 
TIJ is the most recent technology being deployed for primary package 
coding. Initially used purely in office printers, the capability of TIJ has 
been extended to better meet the more demanding requirements  
of industrial applications. While the deployment of this technology  
is in its infancy in primary package coding, DPS has taken an 
early entry position as we believe the technology has the potential 
to penetrate and grow its share of the total market. TIJ has the 
advantages of simplicity and low maintenance relative to other 
technologies as well as being an economic solution for some 
applications. The range and type of fluids with which existing TIJ head 
technology can operate limits its applications, but we expect future 
developments to increase rapidly the addressable market. In 2008 
DPS acquired aps Alternative Printing Services GmbH (‘APS’) based 

Sandwich and snack salads retailers are constantly 
looking to differentiate their products through 
innovative packaging. To help its customers respond 
to this challenge, Buckingham Foods has recently 
installed six Domino V200 thermal transfer printers. 

Dave Courtney, Chief Engineer for Buckingham 
Foods, explains: ‘We have been impressed by the 
quality of the technology, the technical knowledge 
of our partners at Domino and the excellent service 
back up. Domino is clearly the leading player in the 
coding market.’.

>
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quality range of products. APS has two wholly owned subsidiaries  
in France and Australia as well as its own global distribution network. 
A Domino branded TIJ printer based on APS technology has  
recently been launched and we believe both brands have significant  
growth potential. 
 
Primary packaged products are often aggregated into a secondary 
pack – a carton, shrink-wrap tray or outer case cardboard box. The 
coding requirements for secondary packaging are quite different from 
primary packaging, often on slower lines, with a need for larger size 
print and machine-readable codes such as bar codes. For these 
applications DPS offers three principal technologies; valve based Drop 
on Demand (‘DOD’) ink jet, high resolution piezo DOD ink jet and Print 
and Apply Labelling Machinery (‘PALM’). DPS’ position in secondary 
packing is less mature than in primary package coding and represents 
a significant growth opportunity for the future. 
 
The Macrojet and Casecoder valve based DOD ink jet products have 
been part of the Domino product portfolio for many years, sold for 
both primary and secondary package coding applications, but it was 
in 2001 with the acquisition of Alpha Dot Limited based in the UK that 
the Group made a strategic move to broaden its product range and 
actively develop business in secondary packaging applications. The 
Alpha Dot product range was combined with that of Domino and a 
new range of high resolution piezo ink jet products was developed 
using Xaar print head technology. The Alpha Dot business is now fully 
integrated within Domino’s core operations.
 
PALM is a more recent addition to our product portfolio. DPS acquired 
a Swedish PALM company, Mectec, in 2006. Mectec has excellent 
products and technical skills with significant opportunities for growth 
through the sales channels of Domino. PALM technology is also  
used for coding tertiary packaging. Mectec offers a range of pallet 
labelling systems.
 
In many supply chains, the requirement to integrate coding across all 
stages of product packaging is increasing. Legislation and industry 
mandates are appearing, requiring manufacturers to identify and 
authenticate products, as well as trace provenance and, in some 
cases, maintain full tracking capability as the products move from 
factory to point of use. We have broadly described this business 
opportunity as ‘Track and Trace’ and over the past two years the 
Group has invested in capability to provide customers with fully 
integrated solutions to meet these requirements.
 
The Group acquired Enterprise Information Systems, now Domino 
Integrated Solutions Group (‘DISG’) based in Texas, USA in 2006. 
DISG is a systems integrator specialising in RFID enabled Track 
and Trace solutions. Applications are typically in manufacturing 
or warehouse environments and include product identification and 
asset tracking. Most of DISG’s business is in the USA.
 
In response to specific requirements that are emerging in particular 
in the food and pharmaceutical industries, the Group made a further 
acquisition of Control Information Technology GmbH (‘Control’) in 2007. 

Krombacher Brewery, one of Germany’s oldest and 
largest privately owned breweries, has emerged 
as an industry leader in product coding for beer, 
thanks in part to the installation of a variety of 
Domino equipment, including the dot matrix and 
scribing laser ranges as well as A300 high quality 
CIJ systems.

Seven Krones Topmatic lines, each with a through-
put of up to 66,000 bottles per hour, operate 
around the clock to fulfil production requirements. 
Bottles are labelled front and back, with the back 
label coded to show the best-before date, along 
with data to facilitate traceability.

>

Global cosmetics and beauty 
company, Yves Rocher, has 
virtually eliminated wastage 
generated from label printing, 
thanks to the recent installation 
of four linerless versions  
of Domino’s M-Series  
print and apply labeller. 

>
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Control is a software business based in Koblenz, Germany that has 
developed a product able to meet the requirements of manufacturers  
to manage the unique identification and authentication of their products. 
Control has specific capability in the pharmaceutical sector and is 
able to provide solutions that fully comply with the stringent validation 
standards of the industry. The principal driver for the unique identification 
of prescription drugs is patient safety. Governments in many countries 
have implemented, or are in the process of implementing, legislation 
requiring pharmaceutical manufacturers to code drugs at the 
smallest unit level (typically a tablet or individual blister) which allow 
either authentication at point of use, or in some cases full traceability 
throughout the supply chain. This requires not only management of the 
coding itself but also handling and organisation of a massive amount 
of data. The Control product enables this process to be managed 
efficiently and with complete integrity.
 
The Group has further invested over the past two years in resources 
to build a capability in its core business to market and implement 
Track and Trace solutions. While the opportunity for these solutions 
remains, customer investments in this area have been slower than we 
expected. Legislation that has had near term implementation dates 
has been delayed during 2008 and, with the recent changes in the 
economic environment, we now expect customer investment cycles 
to be extended and the profit opportunity in this area to be longer 
term. The Group’s Track and Trace division has to date been loss 
making and in light of this, and with reduced prospects for short term 
improvements, the internal investment in Track and Trace capabilities 
has been reduced as part of the Group’s restructuring in October 
2008. Resources are now focused in the businesses of DISG and 
Control and each of these is operating on a stand alone basis within 
the Group. 

The Group has a range of products sold into Commercial Printing 
markets for use in numbering and addressing applications. The 
Bitjet binary continuous ink jet product combines the benefits of 
high speed with near letter quality printing for more complex web 
based applications, and the A400 variant of Domino’s A-Series single 
head CIJ product range is used to meet simpler and lower speed 
requirements. Domino also offers two DOD based systems for both 
web and mailing applications. The K-Series range uses piezo DOD 
ink jet technology for high performance applications and the Domino 
L-Series uses TIJ technology for applications in mailing. In Commercial 
Printing the Group has focused on specific applications in a limited 
number of geographies, notably in North America and western 
Europe. In addition to the printers themselves, systems are often sold 
incorporating computer controllers for the management of data and in 
some cases production line processes. 

The Group has manufacturing operations in Europe, the Americas and 
Asia. The principal manufacturing sites for ink jet printers are in the UK, 
China, USA and Europe. There is also an assembly operation serving 
the local market in Delhi, India. Laser products are manufactured 
in Germany, the USA and, since October 2008, the UK. There are 
small manufacturing operations attached to each of the businesses 
of Mectec, Purex and Citronix. APS TIJ products are manufactured 
in Germany. The Group operates four ink manufacturing facilities with 
the largest being in the UK and USA. Each of these two facilities has 
sufficient potential capacity to meet worldwide requirements for fluids 
should supply be interrupted from one or the other. Additional ink 
manufacturing plants are located in Shanghai and Delhi. These supply 
regional markets.

Research and Development (‘R&D’) is carried out across the 
businesses of the Group and it is our policy to retain R&D resources 
close to the manufacturing operations for each range of products. 
We operate an integrated approach to development with supplier 
management and manufacturing engineering resources forming a key 
part of our multi-functional approach. Product developments are all 
managed under the auspices of a detailed product creation process, 
established to ensure a commercial focus to all our activities and 
process and product quality. The ability to innovate and develop new 
products enhancing performance while lowering total cost remains a 
key component of the Group’s strategy for growth.

The installed base of 
the Domino Group’s 
printers is now  
well in excess of 
200,000 units

Business Review continued
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15 DPS has reached its 30th anniversary in excellent shape for the next 
phase of its development. The Group has a broad technology base 
and an excellent product range with good growth potential. We 
continue to watch technology developments carefully and seek to 
acquire relevant ones as we identify opportunities for their deployment 
in our business. Our global distribution capability is a major strength 
and we now have in excess of 200 distributor partners worldwide 
helping to grow the sales of the various DPS subsidiaries.
 

Trading during 2008
Sales grew by 9 per cent over prior year. Large movements in 
exchange rates have impacted the reported numbers significantly. At 
constant exchange rates our sales growth for the year was 4 per cent. 
The year was very much one of two distinct phases. In our interim 
results we reported sales growth at the half year of 12 per cent. This 
was fuelled by the growth in our newer businesses, Easyprint and 
Mectec, and strong regional growth in Asia, the Middle East and South 
America. As the second half year unfolded and the magnitude of the 
crisis in the banking industry and credit markets became evident, we 
saw a marked slow down in order intake rates for new equipment. 
As a result, second half sales compared to the same period in 2007 
grew by only 6 per cent, all of which was attributable to currency 
movements. While the Group has experienced depressed market 
conditions from low economic growth in certain regions in the past, 
the slow down witnessed in the second half of this year has been 
more widespread and not confined to any particular geographic  
region or market sector. These conditions persist as we enter our  
new financial year.
 

Geographic regions
Europe remains the strongest market for the Group contributing 
£127.2 million, 50 per cent of revenues in 2008, and growth of 6 per 
cent including the effect of currency movements and acquisitions. The 
trend in recent years in European markets has been one of modest 
growth in the mature markets and more rapid growth in the developing 
markets including those in eastern Europe. In 2008, sales in the UK, 
France and Germany, which combined represent 25 per cent of 
Group revenues, were 3 per cent below the prior year in local currency 
terms. Elsewhere sales in Scandinavia, southern and eastern Europe 
continued to make satisfactory progress with overall growth of 2 per 
cent in local currency. 

In November 2007, we acquired the trade and certain assets of the 
coding business of our former distributor in Belgium. This business 
has been successfully integrated with existing operations based in the 
Netherlands and we now operate a direct subsidiary operation serving 
the Benelux market. Sales in Benelux in 2008 were £11.3 million.
 

DPS’ European operations were further bolstered by the acquisitions 
of Photon Energy in June 2008 and APS in August 2008. These 
businesses contributed £2.1 million to Group revenues in the period 
since acquisition. 

Sales in the Americas were 7 per cent ahead of prior year with strong 
growth in both the USA and South America. Growth in both the 
coding and marking and Commercial Printing sectors helped US 
revenues to 7 per cent growth. Revenues in South America were 
13 per cent higher with strong sales in Brazil in particular, and sales in 
Canada and Mexico were collectively 3 per cent ahead of prior year.

Sales in Asia grew by 13 per cent in local currency. China and India 
are the Group’s largest markets in the region and both recorded 
strong growth over the year. Domino is the leading brand in many 
Asian markets and we have consolidated our position with both strong 
printer volume growth and increasing after market revenues. 

Products
Printer volume growth was 4 per cent in the full year including the 
effect of acquisitions. Strong growth in volumes of CIJ printers at the 
half year were offset by slower order intake in the second half, leaving 
total volumes for the year less than 1 per cent ahead of 2007. Laser 
equipment volumes grew by 3 per cent, and TTO printer volumes grew 
by 61 per cent benefiting from the introduction of Domino branded 

Underlying profit before tax  
(£million)

Underlying earnings per share
(pence)

+7%

+9%

35.3

22.95

33.0

21.04

Revenue
(£million) +9%

253.4

231.5

208.4

2006

2006

30.8

20.33

2008

2008

2007

2007

2008

2007

2006

continued on page 18
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17 The Domino Group is able to meet  
the ever increasing needs of its 
customers and the marketplace 
through a broadening range of 
technologies offered. Coupled with 
networking capabilities, Domino 
companies provide a range of 
Intelligent Solutions.
 
Track and Trace, remote diagnostics 
and remote access to the user 
interface are just a few examples of 
the improved capabilities that we now 
offer to meet the demanding needs  
of the marketplace.
 
Data management is one aspect of 
coding on products that has, in more 
recent times, become an essential 
ingredient to any solution. The Domino 
Group offers full data management 
capability and a full suite of machine 
readable codes including Data Matrix,  
QR Codes and Intelligent Bar Codes.
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V-Series products sold through Domino sales channels. Volumes of 
outer case coding, PALM and commercial printing products were all 
ahead of prior year.

Printer average selling prices for the year as a whole have fallen 
slightly, in part a result of product and channel mix and in part a 
reflection of the competitive position in a tightening market. Printer 
revenues, before the effects of currency, were slightly ahead of those 
in 2007. 

The installed base of printers worldwide is now well in excess of 
200,000 and revenues from the supply of fluids, spares and services 
to the existing customer base represents approximately 58 per cent  
of Group turnover. This revenue stream continues to grow in line  
with expectations.

Operations 
The Group undertook a number of actions during the second half 
of the year to restructure the business and reduce its cost base in 
anticipation of more difficult trading conditions. The total cost to the 
Group of these actions is £5.2 million. This has been taken as an 
exceptional charge against the operating profits of the business. The 
annualised benefit of this programme is expected to be £10.0 million. 

In October 2008, we closed our production facility in Denmark for 
TTO products and transferred production to our facility in Cambridge 
with the loss of 15 jobs. In October 2008, we commenced production 
of laser products at our main facility in Cambridge and subsequently 
announced the full closure of our operation in Anaheim, USA with the 
loss in California of 60 jobs. The closure is expected to be complete 
by February 2009. In October 2008, we also announced a further 
reduction in our general workforce of 125 jobs. This reduction is 
spread across the whole Group and represents a small percentage 
of the staff in any one location. It does not impair our ability to drive 
forward the Group in line with our strategy above, but it does reflect 
lower demand in the short term.

Research and Development
R&D expenditure before exceptional costs grew by 13 per cent 
in 2008 over the previous year, 1 per cent of this growth coming 
from new acquisitions. DPS spends around 5% of turnover on R&D 
to support its strategy of leading products and broad technology 
portfolio. During 2008 we introduced a number of new products 
across the Group including extensions to the A-Series plus CIJ range; 
a new range of lasers, the D-Series; a new TIJ printer, the G-Series; 
extensions to our secondary packaging product offering and a number 
of new after market products. Looking ahead, we expect to launch 
new products in 2009 in most subsidiaries.

Key Performance Indicators
We continue to monitor the progress of the Group with reference to 
Key Performance Indicators. Comparative performance in the current 
and past three years is as follows:

     2008 2007 2006 2005

Sales growth     9% 11% 9% 8%
Gross margin before exceptional costs (page 42)     47.6% 48.1% 49.2% 48.9%
Operating return on sales1     13.8% 13.9% 14.5% 14.2%
Operating cash flow/operating profit2     115% 112% 120% 109%
Return on capital employed3     22.6% 23.0% 24.6% 26.9%

1  Ratio of operating profit before amortisation of intangibles arising on business combinations (2008: £1,283,000; 2007: £770,000) and exceptional costs (2008: £8,329,000; 2007: £nil) as 
a percentage of total Group sales.

2 Ratio of net cash inflow from operating activities before taxation to operating profit before exceptional costs.
3  Ratio of operating profit before exceptional costs as a percentage of average total assets less current liabilities before deferred and contingent consideration on acquisitions due in less 

than one year.

Business Review continued
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19 It is our goal to maintain an appropriate balance between sales growth 
and profit improvement while seeking to convert at least 100 per cent 
of operating profit into cash and retaining a return on capital employed 
in excess of 20 per cent.

Financial performance
Sales of £253.4 million were 9 per cent ahead of last year. Organic 
growth from the core business was 2 per cent, growth from 
businesses acquired during the year was 2 per cent and gains  
from movements in average exchange rates were 5 per cent. 

The gross margin rate of the business before exceptional costs was 
47.6 per cent in the year compared to 48.1 per cent in 2007. Gross 
margins across product groups have remained relatively stable as 
our programme to deliver improved efficiencies in manufacturing 
operations and reduction in total product costs continues to yield 
positive results. We expect the recent announcement of consolidation 
in our Laser manufacturing operations to benefit the gross margin of 
the Group in 2009 and beyond.

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses increased by 8 per 
cent before exceptional costs. Growth was attributable to costs in 
businesses acquired in the period of 3 per cent and currency translation 
effects of 5 per cent. The Group increased its investment in R&D 
before exceptional costs by 13 per cent in the year and, along with a 
number of new products already introduced during the year, has a full 
pipeline of new developments for launch in 2009 and 2010. 

Operating profit before amortisation of acquired intangible assets  
and exceptional costs was £34.9 million, an increase of 8 per 
cent on 2007. This represents a return on sales of 13.8 per cent  
(2007: 13.9 per cent). 

The Group has incurred exceptional costs in the year totalling 
£8.3 million, summarised as follows:
 £m

Relocation of manufacturing operations 1.8
Provisions for redundancies  3.4

Total restructuring costs 5.2

Impairment of goodwill and acquisition  
 intangibles relating to Control 3.1

Total exceptional costs 8.3

During the year, the Group consolidated the manufacture of TTO 
printers with its other printer manufacturing operations in the UK. 
The manufacturing facility acquired with Easyprint in Denmark has 
been closed. The Group has announced the decision to close its 
Laser manufacturing operations in Anaheim to further consolidate 
manufacturing at its main printer plant in the UK. Full provision has 
been made in the 2008 results for the £1.8 million of costs associated 
with the transfer of operations and closure of the plants. Annualised 
benefits of these changes are expected to be £3.0 million.

The Group has further responded to changes in economic 
conditions and the resulting impact on new printer business by 
reducing headcount across the business. This move has eliminated 
approximately 125 positions, taking the total positions eliminated in 
restructuring and cost reduction actions to approximately 200.  
A provision of £3.4 million has been made and is expected to cover 
the costs of the redundancies in full. Annualised benefits of these 
changes and other efficiency gains, including non-replacement of 
open positions, are expected to be £7.0 million. This, together with  
the £3.0 million annualised savings in manufacturing operations,  
totals £10.0 million.

The value to Domino of the business of Control, the supplier of 
Track and Trace and line control software to the pharmaceutical 
and other industries, has been reviewed in light of changes in the 
economic environment. Legislation covering item level serialisation and 
authentication of pharmaceutical products expected to take full effect 
in 2009 has now been delayed, in some key territories by up to six 
years. We have therefore taken a conservative view of the value of the 

Blue tube laser technology pioneered by 
Domino has proved key to meeting increasing 
production demands for German car care 
products manufacturer Sonax GmbH & Co. KG. 
The laser technology provides Sonax with an 
environmentally-friendly solution for high-speed, 
quality coding of PET spray bottles. 

Having benchmarked the Domino solution 
against other providers, Georg Haus, Project 
Manager at Sonax, was impressed by the 
technology which is used to produce a single 
line of data including batch codes, dates and 
machine numbers at a speed of up to 240 
metres per minute.

>
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goodwill and acquired intangibles associated with Control and, under 
the requirements of IAS 36, have reduced the carrying value of the 
business in the Group’s balance sheet. The non-cash charge to profits 
is £3.1 million. The Control business remains focused on opportunities 
in serialisation and Track and Trace. It is, however, our expectation that 
the speed of development of the business will be slower than originally 
anticipated at the time of acquisition. 

Operating profits of the Group were £25.3 million for the year  
(2007: £31.5 million).

Interest and tax
The Group has remained in a net cash positive position during 
the year. Cash used in making acquisitions and in the purchase of 
the Company’s own shares reduced average net balances when 
compared to the prior year and as a consequence interest income 
generated of £0.8 million was below the £1.1 million generated in 
2007. Other financing charges include interest paid of £0.4 million on 
gross debt where short term overdrafts or borrowings have been used 
around the Group, and £0.5 million of notional interest on deferred 
consideration associated with acquisitions. 

The tax charge of £8.5 million reflects an effective rate of 33.9 per 
cent on reported pre-tax profits. Tax applicable to the profits before 
exceptional costs is £10.0 million, an effective rate of 30 per cent. The 
tax effects of the exceptional costs reflect the fact that no deduction 
is available against profits for the impairment of goodwill and no 
deduction has been made for the costs associated with the closure of 
the Laser manufacturing operations in the USA. The exceptional costs 
associated with this restructuring have exceeded underlying operating 
profits of the US group in the period. Uncertainty in the outlook for 
underlying profits in the US group coupled with existing deferred tax 
assets means the recoverability of any additional deferred tax asset  
is uncertain and therefore no provision has been made. If profits of  
the US group improve, there may be benefit derived from this in  
future years. 

Earnings and earnings per share
Earnings after tax and before minority interest were £16.6 million 
(2007: £22.2 million). Underlying profits before tax were £35.3 million, 
growth of 7 per cent on prior year (2007: £33.0 million).

The Group purchased and cancelled 3.6 million shares during the 
year, 3.2 per cent of opening issued share capital. This, coupled with 
movements associated with share schemes, resulted in a reduction  
in the weighted average number of shares in issue over the period of 
1.2 per cent. 

Basic earnings per share was 15.33 pence. Underlying earnings  
per share (see note 14) was 22.95 pence, an increase of 9 per cent 
(2007: 21.04 pence). Diluted earnings per share was 15.26 pence 
(2007: 19.93 pence).

Dividends
The Board is recommending a final dividend of 7.68 pence per share, 
which together with the interim dividend of 4.15 pence makes a total 
of 11.83 pence for the year as a whole, an increase of 20 per cent 
over dividends declared in 2007 (9.86 pence). Dividends paid in the 
year were 10.55 pence per share, an increase of 20 per cent on 2007 
(8.79 pence). 

Cash 
The Group remains strongly cash generative at the operational  
level. Net cash inflow from operating activities before taxation  
was £38.5 million. 

The overall consumption of working capital in the year was £2.1 
million. The Group has maintained tight control over average collection 
periods for trade receivables, which remained at levels consistent with 
prior year. Inventory was reduced by £3.5 million, excluding the effect 
of acquisitions. This reflects improvements in the management of the 
supply chain. 

Business Review continued

Premier Foods manufactures 50 per cent of the UK’s annual 
consumption of jams, jellies and preserves. The recent installation of 
five Domino A300+ CIJ coders is helping to improve efficiencies by 
addressing the main causes of downtime. 

An expansion programme at Premier Foods is helping the company  
to satisfy increasing demand from the UK and overseas. The company 
has been a Domino customer for over 25 years, with the latest 
installations replacing time-served Domino coders. 

>
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21 Capital expenditure was £4.9 million compared to £3.8 million in 
2007. This is a result of investments in new and enhanced production 
capability in the Laser business and in upgrades to the Group’s 
Information Technology platform.

Non-cash items that were a deduction from operating profits of £15.3 
million (2007: £6.5 million) included amortisation of intangible assets, 
share scheme charges, movements in redundancy and restructuring 
provisions and the write down of goodwill and acquisition intangibles 
associated with the Control business.

The Group made four acquisitions during the year.

In November 2007, the Group, through its wholly owned subsidiary 
operation in the Netherlands, acquired certain trade and assets from 
its former distributor in Belgium. The price paid was €4.4 million 
including costs. Net assets acquired were €0.5 million. This business 
was immediately combined with existing operations to form an 
enlarged Benelux operation. Results from this business were in  
line with expectations for the year and increased Group sales by  
£1.6 million.

In June 2008, the Group acquired Photon Energy GmbH and its 
wholly owned subsidiary NWL Lasertechnologie GmbH (the ‘Photon 
Energy Group’). The Photon Energy Group is based near Nuremberg 
in Germany and specialises in the development, manufacture and 
sale of solid state laser systems used in marking, coding and other 
applications. The price paid was €4.5 million after costs, with the 
Group also assuming €2.4 million in net debt. Intangible assets 
acquired have been valued at €2.0 million. Resulting goodwill was 
€4.9 million. The results of the Photon Energy Group since acquisition 
date have been in line with expectations. 

In August 2008, the Group acquired 95 per cent of the equity in aps 
Alternative Printing Services GmbH (‘APS’). APS is based near Stuttgart 
in Germany and develops and markets TIJ printers and consumables. 
Initial cash consideration was €14.0 million including costs. Additional 
consideration is payable over a three year period based upon the results 
of the business. Werner Schaffer, the former majority shareholder and 
Managing Director holds the 5 per cent minority stake. Mr Schaffer 
has a put option over these shares, the terms of which allow him to 
sell his remaining stake to Domino at any point up to 2015, at a price 
determined by the performance of the business subject to a cap.  
The value of the additional consideration payable, including the value  
of the minority shares has been estimated at €13.7 million, discounted 
to €12.1 million. Intangible assets acquired have been valued at  
€6.0 million. Resulting goodwill was €25.5 million. 

In October 2008, the Group purchased certain trade and assets 
pertaining to the business of PAT Technology Systems Inc. (‘PAT‘), a 
Canadian company specialising in the development, manufacture and 
sale of air purification equipment and consumables. This business is 
complementary to that of Purex International Limited, the Group’s UK 
based subsidiary, and will be fully integrated with Purex operations. 
Initial consideration paid was C$2.2 million including costs. Wayne 
Baird, majority shareholder of PAT, has joined the Group as a part of 
the transaction. Additional consideration is payable to Mr Baird subject 
to the results of the business over a two year period and is subject 
to a cap. The value of additional consideration has been estimated at 
C$0.3 million. Goodwill arising from the acquisition is C$2.2 million.

Cash was also utilised during the year to make interim payments of 
deferred consideration relating to the acquisitions of Easyprint (£0.1 
million), Citronix (£0.8 million) and On-Line Coding (£0.1 million). 

The Group purchased 3.6 million of its own shares for cancellation 
during the year at an average price per share of 284 pence. In 
addition, 1.0 million shares were purchased at an average price per 
share of 302 pence on behalf of the Trust holding shares used to fulfil 
obligations under the Group’s employee share schemes. Total cash 
utilised including costs was £13.2 million.

Bacardi Limited’s German subsidiary in Buxtehude 
boasts a production area measuring some 3,000 
metres² and operates three filling lines over two 
shifts. This demanding schedule means that 
Bacardi only utilises the most reliable components 
in its production operation.

Increasing production volumes were the catalyst 
for a review of coding system requirements on 
the company’s Variopac and Krones lines. With 
many years’ experience in the integration of coding 
systems with a variety of OEM equipment, Domino 
Deutschland GmbH was identified as a suitable 
supplier and its A-Series small character CIJ 
system as the ideal coding machine. 

>
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The net cash outflow after all investing and financing activities was 
£6.7 million. Short term borrowings increased by £13.4 million. These 
were principally utilised to fund the purchase of recent acquisitions  
in Germany. Net Group cash and short term debt at year end was  
£11.9 million (2007: £32.6 million).

Treasury
The Group is exposed to changes in interest rates and movements 
in rates of exchange between currencies. The Group holds cash 
deposits and has short term overdraft and debt facilities with a variety 
of UK and overseas banks. 

The Board approves Treasury policy and receives monthly reports 
upon cash and debt and upon the impact of prevailing interest rates 
and currency movements. The Group maintains committed debt 
facilities available in both sterling and multi-currency and has recently 
entered into agreements to secure a new three year revolving term 
facility which commenced in December 2008. Fixed costs of these 
facilities are not materially different to those incurred in previous years. 
Interest payable on drawn facilities will be subject to fluctuations  
in LIBOR.

The Group manufactures products in the UK, Europe, the USA and 
in Asia and sells its products and services across global markets in a 
range of currencies. This creates an exposure to both transactional 
and translational risk as rates of exchange fluctuate. 

The main currencies to which the Group is exposed include the US 
dollar and the euro. The Group utilises forward exchange contracts 
placed on a rolling 12 month basis to hedge transaction risk in these 
currencies. Small contracts are also placed, typically over no more 
than three months, covering net cash receipts in a variety of other 
currencies in which the Group trades. The average rates at which 
contracts matured during 2008 were £1:$1.98 and £1:€1.46. These 
had the effect of decreasing net sterling receipts by £1.7 million 
compared to prevailing month end rates. 

Reported results are subject to translation from local currencies to 
sterling at prevailing rates. The Group takes no action to hedge these 
pure translation effects. During 2008, movements in exchange rates 
resulted in an increase in reported profits of approximately £4.8 million 
when compared to results translated at rates of exchange prevailing  
in 2007. 

The Group does not take action to hedge the impact of movements 
in exchange rates on the value of investments denominated in foreign 
currencies. The value of currency translation gains or losses is taken 
directly to reserves. In 2008, this resulted in an increase in the value of 
reserves of £9.2 million. 

Adoption of accounting standards
The Group has adopted IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, 
and has made additional disclosures in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

Risk management 
The Group has an established risk management process, which has 
been maintained throughout the year. Risks and uncertainties are 
assessed and formally evaluated and actions to mitigate adverse 
effects are reviewed and monitored by executive management 
through a formal Risk Management Committee. The Group operates 
an internal audit function. All internal audits include a formal risk 
assessment relevant to the business or function being audited. The 
Board receives a report on each internal audit and also receives 
regular reports on risk and control matters.

Friesland Foods, one of the largest dairy 
companies in the world, has made improvements 
to its Track and Trace process with the installation  
of Domino technology. 

In the search for a new, reliable and cost-effective 
coding solution, Friesland Foods purchased  
10 Domino A400 and eight A200 printers, having 
been impressed by Domino’s proven ability and 
experience in a number of similar applications. 

>

We remain committed 
to further development 
of the Group organically 
and through acquisition 
and look forward to the 
future with confidence

Business Review continued
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23 The key risks to which the business is exposed include:

 Loss of a key supplier or disruption to the supply chain for key •	
components and materials. The Group has an active supplier 
management and quality assurance programme and maintains 
either dual sources of supply or appropriate strategic stock of 
materials to mitigate against supply chain failure.
 Loss of manufacturing facility. Formal disaster recovery plans  •	
are maintained in all manufacturing locations and, for fluids 
manufacture, include the ability to rapidly increase manufacturing 
capacity in sister plants in the UK and USA. 
 Product failure impacting our customers’ ability to continue •	
production. The Group operates comprehensive quality control 
mechanisms for all products and regularly monitors field 
performance of all products. 
 Technology change. The Group has an active programme of •	
evaluating competitor products and maintains an overview  
of developments in coding, marking and other identification 
technologies. 
 Legislation affecting materials or business processes. The Group •	
has an active programme monitoring use of materials, in  
particular changes in permitted chemicals used in fluids. Fluids  
are reformulated to ensure compliance with latest standards. 
 Deterioration in general economic conditions. The Board remains •	
cognisant of the fact that the operational gearing of the Group 
places short term profitability at risk due to a marked slow down  
in capital spend. 

Future outlook
We expect that the changing market conditions experienced over the 
second half of financial year 2008 and their impact on customers’ 
buying behaviour will continue in 2009. Actions have been taken to 
reduce the cost base of the business to help offset the effect that 
reduced sales volumes will have on underlying profits. The Group 
retains an extensive global customer base and we expect that our 
strategy of adding value to customer operations will help our retention 
of after market sales. Despite taking action to restructure operations 
and reduce costs we do not anticipate any diminution in our capacity 
or capability to innovate and develop new products and we have a full 
programme of development planned for 2009 and beyond. 

The Group has a strong balance sheet, is cash positive and generates 
significant cash from operations. We remain committed to further 
development of the Group organically and through acquisition of 
appropriate products and technologies and look forward to the future 
with confidence.

Quad/Graphics, the world’s largest privately 
owned printing company, has named Domino 
‘Capital Equipment Supplier of the Year’ as part 
of its annual ‘Supplier of the Year’ programme. 
Quad/Graphics currently has around 1,000 
Domino printers in its manufacturing portfolio.

Bill Grauschar, vice-president of finishing at 
Quad/Graphics, presented the prestigious 
Gold Award to Jonathan Phillips, Business 
Development Director for Domino’s Commercial 
Printing Division in North America. The award 
recognises Domino’s contribution of key value-
added services to USA-based Quad/Graphics 
in a partnership that began over 20 years ago.

>
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24 Peter J Byrom BSc FCA
Chairman (N)
Age 64. Mr Byrom joined the Board in 1996 and was appointed 
Chairman in the same year. He is Chairman of the Nomination 
Committee. He is also a non-executive director of Rolls-Royce  
Group plc and AMEC plc. 

Nigel R Bond BSc ACA
Group Managing Director (N)
Age 51. Mr Bond, a Chartered Accountant, joined Domino as Financial 
Controller in 1987 and subsequently became President of the US 
operations, before being appointed Group Managing Director on  
22 November 1997.

Garry Havens ACMA
Group Commercial Director
Age 50. Mr Havens, a Chartered Management Accountant, joined 
Domino in 1988 and has held senior general management positions in 
Europe and Asia. He was appointed Group Commercial Director on  
15 March 2002. 

Andrew C Herbert BA ACMA
Group Finance Director
Age 48. Mr Herbert, a Chartered Management Accountant, joined 
Domino in 1986 and has held senior financial, operations and general 
management positions in both the UK and US. He was appointed 
Group Finance Director on 11 May 1998. 

Richard Waddingham MSc CEng MIEE
Group Technical Director
Age 56. Mr Waddingham, a Chartered Engineer, joined Domino and 
was appointed to the Board on 18 July 2005. Previously, he worked 
for Invensys and Motorola.

Philip Ruffles CBE FRS FREng
Non-Executive Director (A,N,R)
Age 69. Mr Ruffles was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on  
15 March 2002 and was appointed Senior Independent Director and 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 19 March 
2008. He was formerly director of engineering and technology at Rolls-
Royce plc. He is a member of the Council for Science and Technology. 

Jerry L Smith (USA) BA LLB
Non-Executive Director (N,R)
Age 70. Mr Smith was appointed as a Non-Executive Director in 1986. 
A New York attorney, he is a retired London partner of Fried, Frank, 
Harris, Shriver & Jacobson, a US law firm. Mr Smith stood down as 
the Senior Independent Director and member of the Audit Committee 
on 19 March 2008.

Sir Mark Wrightson MA
Non-Executive Director (A,N,R)
Age 57. Sir Mark Wrightson was appointed as a Non-Executive 
Director on 1 February 2007. He is Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
He was the co-chairman of Close Brothers Corporate Finance Limited, 
a subsidiary of Close Brothers Group plc, Chairman of the London 
Investment Banking Association Corporate Finance Committee and 
a member of the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers. He is a non-
executive director of Amlin plc.

Sir David Brown BSc FREng FIET
Non-Executive Director (A,N,R)
Age 58. Sir David Brown was appointed as a Non-Executive Director 
on 1 August 2008. He was previously the chairman of Motorola 
Limited and is currently a non-executive director of Ceres Power 
Holdings plc and of DRS Data & Research Services plc.

Christopher Brinsmead BSc MSc
Non-Executive Director (A,N,R)
Age 49. Christopher Brinsmead was appointed as a Non-Executive 
Director on 11 June 2008. He was previously president of Astra 
Zeneca UK Limited and is currently president of the Association of  
the British Pharmaceutical Industry. 

Board of Directors

R = Remuneration Committee member
A = Audit Committee member 
N = Nomination Committee member

Business Review
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Report of the Directors
for the year ended 31 October 2008

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 October 2008.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Group continue to be research and development, manufacture and sale of industrial printing equipment, 
controllers and consumables for the high speed printing of variable information

Business review
The directors are required to provide a business review. The information the review is required to contain is set out in this report and on 
pages 4 to 23 which are incorporated by reference.

Research and development
The Group remains firmly committed to research and development to maintain its position as a market leader in high speed industrial 
coding, marking and printing systems and variable laser marking. During the year, the Group spent £13.7 million, £12.8 million before 
exceptional items (2007: £11.3 million), on research and development.

Results and dividends
The results of the Group are set out on page 42. The directors recommend a final dividend of 7.68 pence per share for the year ended 
31 October 2008. This, together with the interim dividend of 4.15 pence per share paid on 22 August 2008, amounts to 11.83 pence  
per share (2007: 9.86 pence). Subject to approval at the Annual General Meeting, the final dividend will be paid on 9 April 2009 to 
shareholders appearing on the register at the close of business on 6 March 2009.

Directors
The directors who were in office at the end of the year and their interests in the shares of the Company are shown in note 7 to the 
accounts. All the directors listed in note 7 held office throughout the financial year except for Mr C Brinsmead who was appointed  
on 11 June 2008 and Sir David Brown who was appointed on 1 August 2008 and except for Mr W H Everitt and Mr P S Jensen  
who retired on 19 March 2008.

As Mr Brinsmead and Sir David Brown were appointed since the last Annual General Meeting they retire and offer themselves for election.

Mr Smith has served on the Board for more than nine years so he will also retire and offer himself for re-election in accordance with the 
Combined Code.

All the Executive Directors have service contracts with the Company that are terminable on 12 months’ notice. The Chairman and 
Non-Executive Directors do not have service contracts with the Company. The appointments of the Chairman and Non-Executive 
Directors are terminable on six months’ notice.

No director was interested during or at the end of the year in any contract that was significant in relation to the Group’s business.

Creditor payment policy
It is the policy of the Group to settle the terms of payment with all suppliers when agreeing a transaction, to ensure that suppliers  
are aware of the terms and to abide by such terms. The number of trade creditor days outstanding on 31 October 2008 was  
27 (2007: 34 days).

Substantial shareholdings
As at 5 January 2009, the Company had been notified, in accordance with chapter 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules, of the 
following significant holdings of voting rights in its shares:
      Percentage of 
      voting rights 
      and issued  No of  
Name of holder      share capital  ordinary shares

Schroders plc      9.94  10,842,799
AEGON UK Group      7.23  7,889,629
Aberforth Partners LLP      7.01  7,652,500
Credit Suisse Asset Management Ltd      6.05  6,599,835
Artemis Investment Management      5.79  6,319,383
Blackrock Inc.      5.42  5,909,395
Legal & General Group plc      5.11  5,576,879
Standard Life Investments Ltd      3.42  3,733,349
Merrill Lynch UK Special Situations      3.07  3,352,295
Harris Associates      2.80  3,051,100

Corporate Governance
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Report of the Directors continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008

Authority of the directors to issue shares
At the last Annual General Meeting on 19 March 2008, the directors were given authority to allot up to £1,673,226 in nominal value of 
relevant securities. This figure represented approximately 30 per cent of the Company’s total issued ordinary share capital at that time.

Also at the last Annual General Meeting the directors were given authority to allot shares in the Company for cash without regard to  
the pre-emption provisions of the Companies Act 1985. This authority expires on the date of the Annual General Meeting to be held on 
19 March 2009 and the directors will seek to renew this authority for the following year. 

Purchase of own shares
At the last Annual General Meeting, shareholders authorised the Company to make market purchases on the London Stock Exchange of 
up to 16,174,519 ordinary shares representing approximately 14.5 per cent of its issued share capital at that time. This authority will expire 
at the end of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company unless renewed at that meeting.

During the period 13 December 2007 to 22 October 2008 the Company has purchased for cancellation 3,595,041 ordinary 5 pence 
shares at a total cost of £10,215,000 including fees and stamp duty. The number of shares purchased and cancelled represents  
3.29 per cent of the ordinary 5 pence shares in issue as at 31 October 2008. The purchase and cancellation was undertaken to  
improve shareholder value.

Amendment to Articles of Association
The Articles of Association (the ‘Articles’) may be amended by special resolution of the shareholders.

Appointment of directors
The Articles give the directors the power to appoint additional or replacement directors. The Articles also require directors to retire and 
submit themselves for election at the first Annual General Meeting following appointment. One third of the directors are required to retire 
by rotation at each Annual General Meeting.

Power of directors
The directors may exercise all powers of the Company subject to relevant statutes, any directions given by shareholder resolution and  
the Memorandum and Articles. The Articles, for example, contain specific provisions relating to the Company’s power to borrow money. 
The Articles also contain powers relating to the issue of shares and the purchase of the Company’s own shares.

Significant agreements and other arrangements
The Company has various contractual arrangements for the supply of materials, components and equipment. It also has contractual 
arrangements in place for the distribution of its products by third party distributors and also for the distribution of third party products  
by the Domino Group.

The Company has some borrowing facility agreements which include change of control provisions. On a change in control of the 
Company these facilities could be withdrawn or renegotiated.

The earn-out arrangements contained in some acquisition agreements provide for payment of contingent consideration to the original 
sellers in the event of a change in control of Domino.

There are a number of other agreements that may be terminated on a change in control. None is considered to be significant in terms of 
the potential impact on the Company.

Agreements with directors
There are agreements in place with the directors which provide for compensation for loss of employment if this occurs within a specified 
period following a change in control. Details are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 34 to 38.

Capital structure
Details of the authorised and issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the Company’s issued share capital during 
the year are shown in note 25. The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income. Each share carries 
the right to one vote at general meetings of the Company.

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the general provisions 
of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation. The directors are not aware of any agreements between holders of the Company’s 
shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.

No person has any special rights of control over the Company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.
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Share schemes – waiver of dividends
The trustees of the Company’s employee benefit trusts and the qualifying employee share trust (the ‘Trusts’) have agreed to waive 
dividends payable on the Company’s shares held by the Trusts, except for the shares relating to the Long Term Incentive Plan 1997, which 
have vested and are held in trust for a further three years, and the shares relating to the Share Incentive Plan. As at 5 January 2009 the 
Trusts held 1,354,487 shares on which dividends payable had been waived. This represents 1.24 per cent of the issued share capital at 
the year end.

Share schemes – voting rights regarding control of the Company
The Trustees of the qualifying employee share trust have the discretion to sell the shares held in the trust or to consent to the acquisition 
of control of the Company by another party. The trustees of the Share Incentive Plan have the discretion to seek direction from 
participants as to how to exercise the voting rights attaching to the shares held in the trust. If no direction is given the trustees are 
prohibited from exercising the voting rights.

For shares held in trust under the Long Term Incentive Plan, the trustee has discretion as to the exercise of voting rights in respect of 
shares held in trust.

Environmental, social and ethical issues
The Board takes account of the significance of environmental, social and ethical matters to the business of the Group.

Environmental
The Company has an environmental policy which can be viewed on the Domino website at www.domino-printing.com. Mr Bond is the 
Director responsible for environmental matters. An Environmental Steering Group has been established chaired by Mr Bond to promote 
and monitor compliance with the environmental policy.

The Group is reviewing Domino’s products and business methods to find ways of reducing Domino’s environmental impact and serve the 
needs of customers who are becoming increasingly environmentally aware. In particular, there are programmes to reduce solvent usage 
and power consumption.

Each Group company is required to establish a ‘Green Team’ consisting of employees who volunteer to take responsibility for devising 
and implementing environmental initiatives. These teams have undertaken numerous projects ranging from recycling schemes to tree 
planting. A paper on the activities of the UK team has been included in the Green Book which is a reference work on environmental  
best practice. 

Each Group company is also required to record and monitor waste levels, power and water consumption, airline travel and vehicle fleet 
emissions with the objective of achieving reductions in all these areas.

The Group has fluids manufacturing plants in the UK, US, China and India. These operations have been identified as having the potential 
to create an environmental impact due to the hazardous nature of the materials used. The UK, US and Chinese plants are certificated 
under the Environmental Management Standard BS EN ISO 14001:2004. The Standard requires the completion of an environmental 
impact assessment, the development and implementation of plans to achieve continuous improvement and the measurement of such 
achievement. Compliance with the standard is assessed by external audit twice per year.

The UK and US fluids plants are accredited under the ISRS system. This system is designed to ensure compliance with health and safety 
requirements and to provide continuous improvement. Compliance with ISRS is monitored by external audit.

The UK fluids plant and the Chinese plant are also accredited under the OHSAS 1800:1999 Health & Safety Standard. 

The fluids plants in the UK, China and the US operate under environmental protection legislation requiring compliance with emission 
standards and the production of verifiable evidence of compliance.

The environmental policy has been effective in raising awareness of environmental issues and encouraging the adoption of a range of 
initiatives. The Group is committed to continue with its work to seek to reduce the environmental impact of its operations.

Social and ethical
Domino has a comprehensive ethics policy which can be viewed on the Company’s website. Each Domino employee has an individual 
responsibility to deal ethically with customers, suppliers, fellow employees and the general public. The policy has been effective in 
defining the ethical standards to be followed throughout the Group.
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The policy requires the Company to make appropriate contributions to the local community’s wellbeing. This is achieved by charitable 
donations, close involvement with local schools and colleges and provision of training and work experience opportunities. In the UK, 
Domino has a close relationship with a nearby college and staff share their knowledge and experience of the workplace with the college 
lecturers and students. Work experience opportunities are provided for local school pupils as well as overseas students seeking to 
practice their English language skills in a business environment. The policy has been effective in increasing the Company’s involvement 
with the community.

Charitable and political donations
Contributions by the Group during the year to United Kingdom charities and other worthy causes amounted to £35,600 (2007: £37,000). 
No political donation was made (2007: £nil).

The Group matches money raised by employees for worthy causes so donations were made to a large number of organisations including 
national charities such as Macmillan Cancer Support, Marie Curie Cancer Care and local causes such as Addenbrookes Hospital and 
Bar Hill Scouts.

Employees
Mr Bond is the Director responsible for employee issues. Mrs Sanderson, the Group Human Resources Director, is the senior manager 
responsible for these issues.

The Board believes that all staff are entitled to be treated openly, fairly and courteously. The Group is committed to developing the skills of 
its employees so as to make the best use of their abilities for the benefit of the Group and the individual. There is a Group HR policy which 
sets out standards on employment matters and with which all subsidiaries are required to comply. The standard covers such matters as 
training, communication and appraisal. Compliance with the policy is monitored by regular reports and the policy has been effective in 
promoting standards on employment matters.

All employees are encouraged to undertake career development training and training needs are assessed as part of a regular 
performance appraisal process.

Equal opportunities
The Group has an equal opportunities policy that can be viewed on its website.

People with disabilities
Applications for employment made by disabled persons are given full and fair consideration, having regard to the abilities and aptitudes  
of the candidates. If existing employees become disabled, every effort is made to accommodate them within their existing jobs or, if  
this proves to be impossible, to find them suitable alternative employment. Opportunities for development and promotion are open  
to all employees.
 
Employee involvement
Employee communication is organised both centrally and locally. Centrally organised communication deals with the affairs of the Group 
as a whole and the media used for this purpose include the annual report and financial statements, information circulars and meetings. 
Operating units organise local presentations by directors or managers and hold briefings to pass on information to employees and to 
ascertain their views.

In the UK, at least four National Employee Council meetings are held each year to which all employees are invited. The Council meetings 
are used to inform employees of any matters affecting their interests. In addition, regular management briefing meetings are held at which 
presentations are given on the current state of the business as well as any other topics of interest. These briefings are usually attended by 
an Executive Director who is available to answer questions.

Executive Directors and some senior managers are eligible for conditional allocations of shares under a Long Term Incentive Plan. Other 
senior managers are eligible for the grant of options under the executive share option schemes. All UK employees are encouraged to 
participate in the Save As You Earn share option scheme and Share Incentive Plan. Details of the number of share options outstanding 
under the various schemes are set out in note 8 to the accounts.

Quality
Domino has a Group-wide quality programme which has the objective of ensuring that customers are always satisfied with the product 
and services supplied. Mr Bond is the Director with overall responsibility for quality and for customer service generally. The quality 
programme emphasises the need for all employees to take responsibility for their own work. The Group is committed to ensuring  
that employees attend quality training programmes and there is an internal quality assurance department which measures overall  
quality performance.

Report of the Directors continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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Corporate governance
A report on corporate governance is set out on pages 30 to 33.

Going concern
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue its operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Auditors
A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte LLP as the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Disclosure of information to auditors
The following applies to each of those persons who were directors at the time this report was approved:

So far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined in the Companies Act 1985) of which the Company’s •	
auditors are unaware.
He has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information •	
and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s234ZA of the Companies Act 1985.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

Richard Pryn
Company Secretary

23 January 2009

Registered Office: Bar Hill, Cambridge, CB23 8TU 
Registered Number: 1363137
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The Company fully supports the principles of corporate governance contained in the Combined Code on Good Governance issued by 
the Financial Reporting Council in 2006 (the ‘Combined Code’).

Except as stated in the section on Dialogue with shareholders, the Company has, throughout the year, been in compliance with the Code 
Provisions set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code and has applied the principles set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code. An 
explanation of how the principles have been applied is set out below and in the Remuneration Report and the Audit Committee section.

Board of Directors
The Board comprises the Chairman, five Non-Executive Directors and four Executive Directors. The roles of Chairman and Group 
Managing Director are defined and separate. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Managing Director is clearly 
established, set out in writing and agreed by the Board.

The Board has a balance of Executive and Non-Executive Directors, which enables it to provide effective leadership and control of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. It also ensures that the decision making process cannot be dominated by any individual or small group  
of individuals.

Independence of directors
All of the Non-Executive Directors are considered to be independent of management and free from any business or other relationship 
which affects their independent judgement. Mr Ruffles took over the role of Senior Independent Non-Executive Director from Mr Smith  
on 19 March 2008.

The Board believes that to be judged independent each director should be impartial and free from any relationship or connection which 
could affect their ability to discharge their responsibilities impartially and objectively. In addition, each director should in practice have 
demonstrated a scrupulously independent approach by conducting himself impartially in all matters relating to the Group, challenging  
the views of management and other Board members and by showing a willingness and ability to defend his own views. 

On the basis of these criteria, the Board has determined that each of the Non-Executive Directors is independent. In reaching this 
conclusion the Board has considered the factors identified in Combined Code provision A.3.1. The only one of these factors relevant in 
Domino’s case is the length of service of Mr Smith who joined the Board in 1986. The Board believes that no connection or relationship 
has arisen from this period of service which impairs Mr Smith’s independence. He has continued to demonstrate objectivity and 
impartiality and has consistently subjected decisions and proposals to rigorous review. The annual appraisal process has confirmed  
that Mr Smith remains a very effective member of the Board.

Details of the backgrounds of the Non-Executive Directors are set out on page 24.

Terms of appointment and time commitment
The terms of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors can be viewed on the Company’s website or are available from the Company 
Secretary. The Non-Executive Directors are expected to spend approximately 20 days per year on Domino business. This comprises 
approximately 10 days per year attending Board and committee meetings and the remainder spent in preparation and in providing advice 
and assistance.

Activities of the Board and attendance
The Board met nine times during the year to consider operational, financial and strategic matters. All directors attended each meeting 
except that Sir Mark Wrightson and Mr Havens missed one meeting each. There is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for 
the Board’s decision. The Chairman periodically meets with the Non-Executive Directors without the Executive Directors being present.

In broad terms, the Board is responsible for creating and maintaining the framework within which the Company operates. It sets the 
Company’s strategy, objectives and policies and approves operating and capital expenditure budgets and material initiatives and 
commitments. The executive managers are responsible for the decisions necessary to implement such strategies, policies and initiatives.

Each director regularly receives detailed written reports on the performance of the Group, future plans and any significant issues facing 
the business. Standard formats have been developed for these reports to ensure key facts are readily ascertainable. In addition, senior 
management give presentations to the Board on matters requiring Board approval or on topics that the Board selects. For example,  
the Board received presentations on specific development projects and acquisition proposals. One meeting a year is generally held at  
an overseas subsidiary and this year the Board visited Domino France. It uses such visits to meet local employees and to gain a fuller 
understanding of issues faced throughout the business. One meeting during the year is scheduled over two days and set aside to 
consider strategic issues. 

Corporate Governance
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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Independent legal advice
There is a procedure in place for directors to take independent professional advice at the Company’s expense if this is necessary in 
connection with their duties.

Directors’ insurance and indemnity arrangements
The Company has purchased and maintained throughout the year directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. The directors also have the 
benefit of the indemnity provision contained in the Company’s Articles of Association.

Re-election
All directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first Annual General Meeting after their appointment and one third of the 
directors retires by rotation at each Annual General Meeting. In recent years each director has retired each year and stood for re-election. 
The Board has now decided to revert to one third of the directors retiring by rotation at each Annual General Meeting in accordance with 
the Articles of Association. 

The Non-Executive Directors were appointed for specified terms subject to re-election and to Companies Act provisions relating to the 
removal of a director. 

Appointment of new directors
There is a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors to the Board, which is described in the Nomination 
Committee section. 

Board committees
The Board has three standing committees:

Audit Committee
Members: Sir Mark Wrightson (Committee Chairman), Mr P C Ruffles, Mr C Brinsmead (appointed 11 June 2008) and Sir David Brown 
(appointed 1 August 2008). Mr Smith stood down from the Committee on 19 March 2008. Mr Byrom and Mr Smith attend Audit 
Committee meetings by invitation and the Executive Directors are also invited to attend.

Each year the Committee makes an assessment of the qualifications, expertise, resources and independence of the Company’s auditors. 
This assessment is based upon reports produced by the auditors, the Committee’s own dealings with the auditors and feedback from the 
Executive team.

Prior to the commencement of each audit, the auditors present a proposal to the Committee detailing how the audit will be conducted 
and the fees payable. The Committee reviews the proposal with senior representatives of the auditors. 

The Committee meets with the auditors to consider the interim and full year financial statements and to review a report by the auditors  
on any issues raised by the audit. The Committee met once during the year with the auditors without members of the Executive team 
being present.

The independence and objectivity of the auditors is regularly considered by the Committee. The Committee receives an annual statement 
from the auditors detailing their independence policies and safeguards and confirming their independence. The Committee ensures that 
an audit partner rotation policy is operated and reviews the relationship between auditor and management to see if this has the potential 
to affect independence.

The Committee monitors the fees paid to the auditors in respect of non-audit work. As a matter of policy, the only non-audit work which 
the auditors may undertake is tax compliance and acquisition due diligence. The Committee considers that it is cost effective to use the 
auditors for such work and that the amount and nature of such work does not impair the independence and objectivity of the auditors. 
Specific Audit Committee approval is required to engage the auditors to provide any other type of non-audit work. The Committee would 
only give approval if it was satisfied that it would be beneficial to use the auditors and the nature and extent of the work would not impair 
auditor independence.

The Committee reviews the scope and effectiveness of systems to identify and address both financial and non-financial risk. Detailed 
presentations on risk control issues are made to the full Board. The Committee is responsible for reviewing ‘whistleblowing’ procedures.

The Committee reviews the internal audit programme with the Group Financial Controller who has responsibility for the programme.  
The Audit Committee has access to all internal audit reports and the Group Financial Controller has a direct reporting line to the Audit 
Committee Chairman on any issue relating to internal audits.

The Committee met twice during the year.
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Corporate Governance continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008

Nomination Committee
Members: Mr P J Byrom (Committee Chairman), Mr J L Smith, Mr P C Ruffles, Mr N R Bond, Sir Mark Wrightson, Mr C Brinsmead 
(appointed 11 June 2008) and Sir David Brown (appointed 1 August 2008).

The Committee is responsible for identifying and recommending suitable candidates for appointment to the Board. There is a formal  
and transparent procedure for appointments to the Board. Under this procedure, a job specification is drawn up and a recruitment 
consultancy engaged to identify suitable candidates. Candidates are assessed against the job specification and selected candidates are 
interviewed by members of the Nomination Committee and other directors and senior managers. The final appointment decision is made 
by the Board.

The Committee considers succession planning for appointments to the Board and keeps under review the leadership needs of  
the Company.

The Committee advises the Board on the reappointment of Non-Executive Directors and the independence of such directors. It also 
reviews the structure, size, composition and performance of the Board and its committees and makes recommendations to the Board 
regarding such matters. 

The Committee met twice during the year.

Remuneration Committee
Details of the Remuneration Committee are given in the separate Board Report on Remuneration set out on pages 34 to 38.

Committee meeting attendance
All committee members attended each committee meeting.

Committee terms of reference
The terms of reference for the Remuneration, Nomination and Audit Committees can be viewed on the Company’s website or copies 
obtained from the Company Secretary.

Performance evaluation
The Nomination Committee met during the year to appraise the performance of the Board and its committees and to make 
recommendations to the Board. The appraisal took the form of an assessment against a detailed list of issues. The list covered  
a variety of matters ranging from the alignment of strategic objectives to administrative arrangements for Board meetings.

The Chairman appraised the performance of the individual Board members in conjunction with the Managing Director where appropriate.

The Non-Executive Directors met without the Chairman being present to appraise the performance of the Chairman.

These appraisals had regard to the issues raised in the Performance Evaluation Guidance contained in the Higgs Report.

Internal controls
The directors acknowledge their overall responsibility for the system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. They have 
established a system that is designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss and to 
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the key risks faced by the Group that has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of the approval of the 
annual report. The process is regularly reviewed by the Board and accords with the revised Turnbull guidance. Steps continue to be taken 
to embed internal control further into the operations of the business and to deal with any issues that come to the Board’s attention. The 
directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control.

Financial control
The key internal financial controls that were in operation during the year were:

Financial reporting – all operating units complete formal business plans for the year. Each month, the unit produces written reports in a 
defined format on its performance against these plans and provides updated business forecasts. The reports and forecasts are reviewed 
by the Executive Directors and significant issues are reported to the Board.
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Accounting policies and procedures – detailed accounting policies and procedures are in place. Written confirmation of compliance with 
the policies and procedures is obtained from local management. There is a formal internal audit process to verify the application of Group 
policies and procedures and to confirm that there is an effective process of management and control within the business. Internal audits 
are carried out by suitably qualified and experienced staff who have no current connection with the operation being audited. It is the 
objective of the internal audit programme to audit each active Domino company at least once every two years.

Security of the Group’s computer systems – the operation of the Group relies on financial and management information processed by, 
and stored on, computer systems. Controls and procedures have been established to protect the security and integrity of data held on 
these systems, with standby arrangements in the event of computer failure for the major systems.

Treasury – the Treasury function operates under specific guidelines set down by the Board and regular reports are made to the Board.

Capital investment – the Company has defined procedures for the review and control of capital expenditure.

Operational controls
All Domino businesses are required to operate in accordance with detailed, documented standards and procedures which cover all 
material aspects of their operations. Compliance with these standards is assessed by internal and external review.

Compliance
The Company has a Group policy on standards of conduct and business ethics with which all employees are required to comply.

There is a detailed schedule of delegated authority designed to ensure that all material transactions are considered at the appropriate 
level within the Group and are subject to review by the head office legal department. All subsidiaries have access to local lawyers and the 
head office legal department.

Risk management
There is a risk management sub-committee chaired by Andrew Herbert, the Group Finance Director, which has been set up to ensure 
greater focus on risk management and in particular, the implementation of control measures. The sub-committee is required to meet at 
least quarterly. The role of the sub-committee is to:

promote effective identification and management of risk throughout the Group;•	
maintain a risk register identifying significant risks, risk control measures and responsibility for control measures;•	
review and confirm that all significant risks have been identified and suitable control measures adopted;•	
monitor implementation of risk control measures for all significant risks; and•	
ensure all subsidiaries operate an effective risk management process.•	

A senior manager is given responsibility for devising and implementing control measures for each significant risk. The manager is required 
to provide a quarterly report to the sub-committee on the status of implementation of control measures to manage that risk and also to 
give an annual presentation to the sub-committee.

The sub-committee reports to the Executive Management Committee which in turn reports to the Board. A formal risk management 
review of each subsidiary is conducted as part of the internal audit programme. Monthly reports to the Executive Directors submitted by 
subsidiaries and business units cover risk control issues relevant to the particular subsidiary or business unit.

Dialogue with shareholders
The Company actively seeks to enter into dialogue with institutional shareholders and holds regular meetings with them. In order to assist 
Non-Executive Directors to develop an understanding of the views of major shareholders, reports are made of meetings with such 
shareholders. The Company also uses the Annual General Meeting as an opportunity for communication with private shareholders. 
Neither Mr Smith, who was the Senior Independent Director until 19 March 2008, nor Mr Ruffles, who took over this role, have attended 
meetings with a range of major shareholders as suggested by the Combined Code provision D.I.I. The Board considers that Mr Smith and 
Mr Ruffles have a good understanding of the issues and concerns of major shareholders and such attendance was unnecessary. 
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Remuneration
for the year ended 31 October 2008

Unaudited
Remuneration Committee
This Committee deals with all aspects of remuneration of the Executive Directors and is also responsible for recommending and 
monitoring the level and structure of senior management remuneration and setting the Chairman’s fees. Its members are currently  
Mr P C Ruffles (Mr Ruffles replaced Mr Jensen as Chairman of the Committee on 19 March 2008), Mr J L Smith, Sir Mark Wrightson,  
Mr C Brinsmead (appointed 11 June 2008) and Sir David Brown (appointed 1 August 2008).

The Chairman, the Managing Director and the Group HR Director are invited to attend the Committee meetings but do not participate  
in decisions regarding their own remuneration. These attendees were present when the Committee considered matters relating to the 
directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 October 2008. The Committee met five times during the year.

Assistance to the Committee
Mercer Human Resource Consulting, Monks and the Group HR Director have provided advice to the Committee on salaries and benefits 
for the Executive Directors and senior management. Mercer Human Resource Consulting and Monks have no other connection with  
the Company.

Remuneration policy
The Remuneration Committee seeks to establish remuneration packages that will attract, retain and motivate high quality directors. 
Salary and benefit packages for Executive Directors are linked to both individual and business performance and are designed to ensure 
that the Group is managed in the interests of shareholders.

In assessing remuneration, the Committee reviews the remuneration of directors in businesses with global operations comparable to 
those of the Group. The Committee has access to salary surveys of major consultants. It also takes into account the pay and employment 
conditions elsewhere in the Group.

Salary
Salaries and benefits are established by reference to those prevailing in the employment market generally for executives of comparable 
experience and skills and take into account the level of responsibility and achievement of the individual. Broadly, the Committee seeks to 
pitch base salary at the median level for comparable positions. The annual bonus is then used to ensure that, when performance merits, 
total annual earnings are in the upper quartile for comparable positions. 

Annual bonus plan
Executive Directors participate in an annual performance related bonus scheme and the amount payable ranges between 0 per cent and 
75 per cent of base salary. The bonus comprises a figure of up to 50 per cent of base salary calculated by reference to the achievement 
of Group profit and cash generation targets. In addition, if an Executive Director achieves his personal objectives a multiplier is applied to 
this figure. The amount of this multiplier depends on the level of achievement and this element of the bonus is capped at 25 per cent.

The Committee spends considerable time on setting objectives and looks to ensure they are suitably demanding and aligned with  
the objectives of the Group. It also concentrates on ensuring that personal objectives are specific and measurable. At the end of the  
year, the Committee carefully reviews performance and consults with the Managing Director regarding the performance of the other 
Executive Directors. Performance against each individual objective is marked on a scale of one to 10 and the total mark is used to 
calculate the multiplier.

For the year ended 31 October 2008, the Executive Directors earned bonuses in the range of 39 per cent to 39.5 per cent of salary. The 
Executive Directors elected to waive the personal performance element of the bonus earned as part of the overall programme to reduce 
costs. As a result the bonus actually paid to each director was 33 per cent of salary.

Shareholding requirement
Commencing November 2004, Executive Directors are required to build and maintain a holding of at least 40,000 Domino shares. Shares 
held in trust under the Long Term Incentive Plan 1997 are not counted towards this requirement.
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Long Term Incentive Plans
Long Term Incentive Plan 1997
Under this plan, which expired in March 2007, the Remuneration Committee made conditional awards of shares annually to all the 
Executive Directors and certain senior managers. There was no maximum award value stated in the plan but in practice a limit was 
adopted of 60 per cent of the individual’s base salary. The deferred element of the award referred to below was included in this 
maximum. The Committee set objective performance conditions for each award. After three years the shares comprised in the 
conditional award are allocated if, and to the extent that, the performance conditions are met. The performance conditions for  
the awards of shares to the Executive Directors that have been made under the plan are as follows:

i) 50 per cent of the award shares are allocated to a participant if the percentage increase in the Group’s total shareholder return (‘TSR’) 
over three years exceeds the percentage increase in the FTSE Mid 250 Total Return Index (the ‘Index’) over the same period plus  
8 per cent. 12.5 per cent of the shares are allocated if the increase in TSR is no less than that of the Index. Below this, no shares are 
allocated under this provision. Between these two points, allocation occurs on a straight-line basis.

 (For conditional awards made prior to 2005, 12.5 per cent of the shares were allocated if the increase in TSR was no less than  
2 per cent below that of the Index.)

ii) 50 per cent of the award shares are allocated if the percentage growth in the Group’s earnings per share (‘EPS’) over three years 
exceeds the percentage increase in the Retail Price Index (‘RPI’) over the same period plus 25 per cent. For conditional allocations 
made prior to 2003, this figure was 45 per cent. 12.5 per cent of the shares are allocated if the increase in EPS is no less than that of 
the RPI plus 6 per cent. Below this, no shares are allocated under this provision. Between these two points, allocation occurs on a 
straight-line basis.

 For awards made prior to 2006 basic EPS was used for this performance condition. For awards made in 2006 and 2007 underlying  
EPS is used.

The graph below shows the Group’s performance, measured by TSR, compared with the performance of the FTSE Mid 250 Total Return 
Index for the period 1 November 2003 to 31 October 2008.

Five year total shareholder return performance

Any shares allocated to participants are held in trust for a further three years. During this period, additional awards are made annually 
based on the number of shares allocated, giving a possible maximum addition of 72 per cent of the original award. This deferred element 
is included in assessing the value of the original conditional award.

Domino Printing Sciences plc
FTSE Mid 250 Total Return Index
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Remuneration continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008

Long Term Incentive Plan 2008
A new Long Term Incentive Plan was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 19 March 2008.

Under the terms of this plan the Remuneration Committee may grant awards to the Executive Directors and employees of the Company 
or other Group companies. Unless the Committee otherwise decides, the aggregate value of the shares awarded in each year will not 
exceed an amount equal to the recipient’s basic salary.

The awards will be subject to performance conditions to be met over a performance period of three years or more. At the end of the 
performance period the awards will vest to the extent the performance conditions have been satisfied.

The performance conditions for each grant of awards will be determined by the Remuneration Committee. For the awards made in 2008 
the performance period is three years and the performance conditions are as follows:

EPS performance condition – 12.5 per cent of award shares will vest if the increase in the Group’s underlying EPS over the performance 
period is no less than the increase in RPI over the same period plus 12 per cent. If the increase in the Group’s underlying EPS is less than 
this figure no shares will vest under the EPS performance condition.

Fifty per cent of award shares will vest if the increase in the Group’s underlying EPS over the performance period exceeds the increase  
in RPI over the same period by 30 per cent or more.

Between these two points, the proportion of the award that will vest will increase on a straight-line basis from 12.5 per cent to 50 per cent.

For the purposes of measuring underlying EPS, the underlying EPS figure reported in the audited results of the Group for the last 
complete financial year ending before the start of the performance period and the last complete financial year ending before the end  
of the performance period will be used.

TSR performance condition – A comparator group will be used consisting of trading companies which have been in the FTSE 250 
throughout the performance period.

12.5 per cent of award shares will vest if the increase in the Group’s TSR over the performance period places it in the median position in 
the comparator group. If the Group’s position in the comparator group is less than the median no shares will vest under this condition.

Fifty per cent of award shares will vest if the increase in the Group’s TSR over the performance period places it in the top quartile of the 
comparator group.

Between these two points, the proportion of the award that would vest will increase on a straight-line basis from 12.5 per cent to 50 per cent.

For the purpose of measuring increases in TSR, the average of the Group’s closing mid-market share price over the three months 
preceding the start of the performance period and preceding the end of the performance period will be used.

Participants in the LTIP schemes
Awards are made annually to the Executive Directors and certain senior managers who are in a position to influence significantly the 
performance of the Group.

In determining the size of LTIP awards, the Remuneration Committee takes into account the extent to which the participant is in a position 
to influence the performance of the Group and the need to provide effective and competitive incentives. All costs of the Long Term 
Incentive Plan are borne by Domino Printing Sciences plc and recharged to appropriate operating companies.

Assessment of performance measures
The EPS performance measures are assessed by reference to the RPI published by the Office for National Statistics.

The TSR for the comparator group and for Domino is taken from the Return Index produced by Datastream.
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Selection of performance measures
The performance measures were selected because they are simple and transparent and align the interests of participants with those  
of shareholders. FTSE 250 indices were selected because they were considered the most appropriate for a company of Domino’s size  
and sector.

Executive and Save As You Earn (‘SAYE’) share option schemes 
The Company has operated executive share option schemes since 1985. Executive share options are currently granted to subsidiary 
general managers and other senior managers. Executive share option grants have not been made to directors since the introduction  
of the Long Term Incentive Plan in 1997 and no Executive Directors now hold executive share options.

The exercise of executive options granted prior to 2004 is conditional on EPS growth over a three year period exceeding the level  
of growth in the RPI over the same period, plus 6 per cent. For executive options granted after 2003 the exercise of the options is 
conditional on EPS growth exceeding the level of growth in the RPI plus 9 per cent. For options granted before 2005 basic EPS was  
used for the performance condition. For options granted in 2005, and subsequent years, underlying EPS is used. Achievement of EPS 
performance conditions is assessed by reference to earnings per share as reported in the Group’s audited results and the RPI published 
by the Office for National Statistics.

All UK-based employees including Executive Directors are entitled to participate in the SAYE scheme. This is not subject to any 
performance conditions. Since this is a standard, HMRC approved scheme open to all employees it was not considered appropriate  
to include such conditions.

Pensions
Executive Directors are members of a defined contribution scheme that is available to all UK employees. For the year commencing 
1 November 2007, the Company contribution was 25.5 per cent and the Executive Directors’ contribution was 4.5 per cent.

Performance related elements
The payment of basic salary and benefits comprising pension, health insurance and the provision of a car or car allowance  
are not performance related. Payments under the annual bonus scheme and awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan are 
performance related.

Service contracts
It is the Company’s policy to enter into open-ended service contracts with Executive Directors that are terminable by notice not exceeding 
one year.

All the Executive Directors have open-ended service contracts that are terminable by the Company on 12 months’ notice and by  
the director on six months’ notice. The Company reserves the right to pay salary in lieu of notice. The service contracts are dated 
7 November 2008.

The service contracts provide for predetermined compensation to be payable on termination by the Company or by the director in the 
event of a change in control. If termination occurs within two years of any change in control of the Company, the director is entitled to 
payment in lieu of notice and compensation for contractual benefits and loss of bonus. Compensation for loss of bonus accruing during 
the year in which termination occurs is calculated at the highest bonus rate payable for that financial year and pro-rata for the period 
served in that financial year. In addition, the Director is entitled to a payment equal to the average of the bonus percentages awarded  
to him over the three years prior to the termination date under the bonus scheme applied to the director’s base salary as at the 
termination date.

Payments on termination
The Committee’s approach to payments on termination is to consider the specific circumstances of the case including the reasons for 
termination, the Company’s contractual obligations and the rules of the relevant share schemes. To the extent practicable the Committee 
would seek to apply mitigation.

Non-Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors’ fees are determined by the full Board, although individual directors do not participate in the determination of 
their own fees. It is the Board’s policy that Non-Executive Directors should not participate in any of the Group’s bonus, share option or 
other incentive schemes and should not have contracts of service. The Board seeks to set the fees at the level paid for comparable roles. 
No additional fees are paid for committee membership. During the year, the terms of appointment of the Chairman and Non-Executive 
Directors have been amended so that they are now entitled to receive six months’ notice of the termination of their appointment.
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Remuneration throughout the Group
The Group seeks to establish remuneration packages that will attract, retain and motivate high-quality employees.

Salary and benefit packages are linked to both individual and business performance. All employees participate in bonus schemes which, 
together with salary reviews linked to business performance, enable all employees to share in the success of the Group.

Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’)
The Company operates a HMRC approved SIP to enable employees to invest in the Company’s shares in a tax efficient way. This plan is 
open to all UK-based employees.

Audited
Further information
Note 7 to the accounts on pages 58 to 61, which constitutes part of this report, gives details of the remuneration of each of the directors 
and details of interests in the Company’s option schemes and Long Term Incentive Plans.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors.

Peter Byrom
Chairman

23 January 2009

Remuneration continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. The directors are required by the IAS 
Regulation to prepare the Group financial statements under International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the 
European Union and have also elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union. The financial statements are also required by law to be properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements present fairly for each financial year the Group and Company’s 
financial position, financial performance and cash flows. This requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other 
events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in  
the International Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements’. In virtually all 
circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with all applicable IFRSs. However, directors are also required to:

properly select and apply accounting policies;•	
present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable •	
information; and 
provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand •	
the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Group and 
Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to The Members of  
Domino Printing Sciences plc

We have audited the Group and parent company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Domino Printing Sciences plc  
for the year ended 31 October 2008 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated and Parent Company 
Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements  
of Recognised Income and Expense and the related notes 1 to 33. These financial statements have been prepared under the  
accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described  
as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the European Union are set  
out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance  
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and  
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act  
1985 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report 
includes that specific information presented in the Business Review that is cross referred from the Business Review section of the 
Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other 
transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006 
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are  
not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report as described in the contents section and consider whether it is consistent 
with the audited financial statements. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements  
or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any further information outside the  
Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements 
made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the 
Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to 
provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion  
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited. 
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Opinion
In our opinion:

the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,  •	
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 October 2008 and of its profit for the year then ended;
the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union  •	
as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the parent company’s affairs as at  
31 October 2008; 
the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in  •	
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.•	

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
Cambridge, England
 
23 January 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 October 2008

       2008 2008 2008 2007 
      Before  Exceptional Total Total 
      exceptional items 
      items (Note 5) 
     Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Continuing operations
Revenue     3 253,356 – 253,356 231,488
Cost of sales      (132,838) (1,998) (134,836) (120,108)

 
Gross profit      120,518 (1,998) 118,520 111,380
Selling and distribution costs      (46,588) (1,965) (48,553) (41,537)
Administrative expenses      (27,475) (3,482) (30,957) (27,044)
Research and development expenditure      (12,836) (884) (13,720) (11,329)

      (86,899) (6,331) (93,230) (79,910)

Operating profit      33,619 (8,329) 25,290 31,470
Investment income     9   794 1,090
Finance costs     10   (934) (808)

Profit before taxation     3, 4   25,150 31,752
Taxation     11   (8,516) (9,511)

Profit for the year        16,634 22,241

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company     26   16,621 22,201
Minority interest     26   13 40

        16,634 22,241

Basic earnings per share (pence)     14   15.33p 20.14p

Diluted earnings per share (pence)     14   15.26p 19.93p
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        2008 2007 
        £000  £000

Profit for the year         16,634 22,241

Currency translation differences on foreign currency net investments      9,152 (17)
Losses on cash flow hedges        (1,663) (707)
Tax on items taken directly to equity        (582) 355

Total recognised income and expense in the year        23,541 21,872

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company        23,528 21,832
Minority interest        13 40

        23,541 21,872

Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 October 2008

        2008  2007 
     Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets
Goodwill     15  71,817  52,168
Other intangible assets     16  11,403  5,472
Property, plant and equipment     17  25,173  22,160
Available for sale investments     18  1,494  1,674
Investment in associate     18  26  22
Deferred tax assets     24  5,310  3,758

       115,223  85,254
Current assets 
Inventories     19 27,360  27,088 
Trade and other receivables     20 52,018  43,800 
Cash and cash equivalents      26,608  33,878 
Financial instruments     27 75  273 

      106,061  105,039 

Current liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts     28 (14,709)  (1,305) 
Trade and other payables     21 (53,506)  (46,576) 
Financial instruments     27 (1,712)  (247) 

      (69,927)  (48,128) 

Net current assets       36,134  56,911

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities     24  (5,745)  (2,676)
Other payables     22  (17,567)  (12,418)

       (23,312)  (15,094)

Net assets       128,045  127,071

Equity share capital     25, 26  5,454  5,580
 
Reserves     26    
Own shares      (4,111)  (1,854) 
Share premium account      31,731  30,284 
Capital redemption reserve      908  728 
Revaluation reserve      917  931 
Taxation reserve      99  681 
Exchange reserve      6,073  (1,416) 
Retained earnings      86,845  92,048 

Total reserves       122,462  121,402

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company     127,916  126,982

Minority interest in equity     26  129  89

Total equity       128,045  127,071

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

Nigel Bond    Andrew Herbert
Group Managing Director   Group Finance Director

23 January 2009
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 October 2008

        2008  2007 
     Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Net cash inflow from operating activities     33(a)   27,923  25,653

Investing activities
Interest received       794  1,090 
Interest paid       (409)  (362) 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment     211  75 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment      (4,888)  (3,644) 
Purchase of intangible assets      (111)  (205) 
Payment of contingent acquisition consideration     (953)  (2,633)
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings     33(b) (19,543)  (3,116) 

Net cash used in investing activities       (24,899)  (8,795)

Financing activities
Dividends paid      (11,470)  (9,755) 
Payment of loan notes      –  (317)
New bank loans raised      13,516  – 
Repayment of borrowings      (1,502)  (175) 
Receipts from exercise of share save options     –  33
Repayment of obligations under finance leases     (10)  (62) 
Own shares purchased      (3,080)  (141) 
Share buy-backs and cancellations      (10,215)  –
Issue of equity share capital      1,501  886 

Net cash used in financing activities       (11,260)  (9,531)

Effects of foreign exchange on cash balances      1,491  (3)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents      (6,745)  7,324

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year      32,573  25,249

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year      25,828  32,573

Comprising:
Cash and cash equivalents       26,608  33,878
Bank overdrafts       (780)  (1,305)

       25,828  32,573
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Parent Company Statement of Recognised Income  
and Expense
for the year ended 31 October 2008
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Profit for the year         8,944 8,225

Currency translation differences on foreign currency net investments      3,766  (238)
Tax on items taken directly to equity        (582) 355

Total recognised income and expense in the year       12,128 8,342
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Parent Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 October 2008

        2008  2007 
     Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets
Intangible assets     16  91  147
Property, plant and equipment     17  1,524  1,526
Investments in subsidiaries     18  88,021  85,125
Available for sale investments     18  1,484  1,484
Deferred tax assets     24  286  1,031

       91,406  89,313
Current assets
Receivables     20 13,316  8,645 
Cash and cash equivalents      8,874  21,300 
Financial instruments     27 75  273 

      22,265  30,218 

Current liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts     28 (3,314)  (2,658) 
Payables     21 (43,279)  (39,245) 
Financial instruments     27 (1,712)  (247) 

      (48,305)  (42,150) 

Net current liabilities       (26,040)  (11,932)

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities     24  (555)  (630)
Other payables     22  (3,029)  (4,506)

       (3,584)  (5,136)

Net assets       61,782  72,245

Equity share capital     25, 26  5,454  5,580

Reserves     26    
Own shares      (3,815)  (1,622) 
Share premium account      31,731  30,284 
Capital redemption reserve      908  728 
Revaluation reserve      692  692 
Taxation reserve      99  681 
Exchange reserve      2,757  (1,009) 
Merger premium reserve      22,869  22,869 
Retained earnings      1,087  14,042 

Total reserves       56,328  66,665

Equity attributable to shareholders       61,782  72,245

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

Nigel Bond    Andrew Herbert
Group Managing Director   Group Finance Director

23 January 2009
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Parent Company Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 October 2008

        2008  2007 
     Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Net cash inflow from operating activities     33(a)   9,687  12,618

Investing activities 
Interest received       450  873 
Interest paid       (19)  (195)
Purchase of intangible assets      –  (130) 

Net cash from investing activities       431  548

Financing activities
Dividends paid      (11,470)  (9,755) 
Issue of equity share capital      1,501  886
Buy-back and cancellation of share capital      (10,215)  –
Investment in own shares      (3,016)  – 

Net cash used in financing activities       (23,200)  (8,869)

   
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents      (13,082)  4,297

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year      18,642  14,345

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year      5,560  18,642

Comprising:
Cash and cash equivalents       8,874  21,300
Overdrafts       (3,314)  (2,658)

       5,560  18,642
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 October 2008

1. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
General information
Domino Printing Sciences plc is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985. The address of the 
registered office is given on page 94. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in note 3 and in the 
Report of the Directors on pages 25 to 29.

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, being the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group 
operates. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies set out below.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the 
European Union (‘EU’) and therefore the Group financial statements comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation. 

The Company has elected to also prepare financial statements in accordance with IFRS.

The financial information has been prepared under the historical cost convention, except in respect of revalued properties (as permitted 
by IFRS 1) and certain financial instruments of the Group, and has been prepared on a basis consistent with the IFRS accounting policies 
set out below. 

In the current year, the Group has adopted IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures which is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2007, and the related amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. The impact of the 
adoption of IFRS 7 and the changes to IAS 1 has been to expand the disclosures provided in these financial statements regarding the 
Group’s financial instruments and management of capital (see note 30). Four interpretations issued by the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee are effective for the current period. These are IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under 
IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies; IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2; IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives; 
and IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment. The adoption of these interpretations has not led to any changes in the Group’s 
accounting policies.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied in 
these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective:

IFRS 1 (amended)/IAS 27 (amended) Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
IFRS 1 (revised)   First Time Adoption of IFRS
IFRS 3 (revised)   Business Combinations 
IFRS 8    Operating Segments
IAS 23 (revised)   Borrowing Costs 
IAS 27 (revised)   Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
IAS 32 (amended)/IAS 1 (amended) Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
IAS 39 (amended)   Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: Eligible Hedged Items
IAS 39 (amended)   Reclassification of Financial Assets: Effective Date and Transition
IFRIC 12    Service Concession Arrangements
IFRIC 13    Customer Loyalty Programmes
IFRIC 14    IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction
IFRIC 15    Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
IFRIC 16    Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
IFRIC 17    Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners  
Improvements to IFRSs

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the 
financial statements of the Group other than the requirements for additional segment disclosures within IFRS 8 and the amended 
requirements relating to business combinations in IFRS 3.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the entities controlled by the Group. 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of the Group’s subsidiaries. The cost of acquisition is 
measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus 
costs directly attributable to the transaction. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are initially measured at the fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess 
of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets is recorded as goodwill.
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1. Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
The Company’s investments in its subsidiaries are carried at cost less provision for any impairments.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation. 
Subsidiaries’ accounting policies are amended where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

Associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but does not control, generally with a shareholding of 20 per cent 
to 50 per cent of the voting rights. 

The Group has a 23.75 per cent holding in Mectec Coding Benelux B.V., a company incorporated in the Netherlands, which has been 
accounted for as an associate.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. The results and assets and liabilities of the Group’s associate are 
wholly immaterial to the Group’s results and balance sheet and therefore disclosure of the information required by IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates has not been made.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the fair value of the costs of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share 
of the net identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill is recognised as an asset and is reviewed for impairment at least annually, with goodwill allocated to relevant cash generating 
units for the purpose of impairment testing. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Income Statement and is not  
subsequently reversed.

On the disposal of a subsidiary or cash generating unit, any attributable goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss  
on disposal.

Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not included in determining any subsequent 
profit or loss on disposal. 

Acquired intangible assets – business combinations
Intangible assets that are acquired as a result of a business combination, and that can be separately and reliably measured at fair value, 
are separately recognised on acquisition. Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis to the Income Statement over their expected 
useful lives. The periods over which the assets are being amortised are:

Technology         5–12 years
Customer relationships         5–10 years

Proprietary rights
Proprietary rights are measured at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic lives.

Software 
Software that is not integral to an item of hardware is classified as an intangible asset. Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter of the licence term and three years. 

Research and development expenditure
IAS 38 Intangible assets, requires development spend to be capitalised when certain criteria are met and written off to the Income 
Statement over a suitable period. It is the opinion of the directors that all these criteria are only met once the new product being 
developed has successfully completed the validation stage of the Group’s formal Product Creation Process. Development expenditure 
after this point in the process is minimal and therefore both research and development expenditure will continue to be charged to the 
Income Statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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1. Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation with the exception of certain properties at the Group’s 
Head Office in Cambridge which are stated at deemed cost following transition to IFRS, being valuation less accumulated depreciation  
at 1 November 2004.

Depreciation of fixed assets is provided on a straight-line basis so as to write off their cost over their expected useful working lives.  
The annual rates applied are:

Freehold land         nil
Buildings         2.5%
Motor vehicles – owned         20%
Motor vehicles – leased         Lease term
Plant and machinery         5%–20%
Computer equipment         20%–33%
Fixtures and fittings         15%–20%
Leasehold improvements         Lease term

Leased assets
Property, plant and equipment leased under finance leases is capitalised and depreciated over its expected useful life. The finance 
charges are allocated over the primary period of the lease in proportion to the capital element outstanding. 

The costs of operating leases are charged to the Income Statement as they accrue.

Equipment leased to customers
Equipment leased to customers under operating leases is capitalised and depreciated on a straight-line basis over its useful working life. 
Costs capitalised comprise materials, direct labour and attributable overheads. 

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets
Financial assets are classified as either ‘available for sale’ financial assets or ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the 
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Available for sale financial assets
Unlisted shares held by the Group that are traded in an active market are classified as being available for sale financial assets, in 
accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and are stated at fair value. These assets are included 
in non-current assets, as management do not intend to dispose of the investments within 12 months of the balance sheet date. 

The Group owns 10 per cent of the equity capital of Domino Inkjet A/S, a company incorporated in Denmark, 19.35 per cent of  
Graph-Tech AG, a company incorporated in Switzerland, and 3.5 per cent of epc Solutions Inc., a company incorporated in the USA.

In assessing the fair value of each investment, the directors have considered factors such as the recent performance of the company but 
also the relatively small percentage shareholding, the shareholder structure and the unquoted status of each of the companies’ shares 
and concluded that it is appropriate to continue to record the investments at their original cost at 31 October 2008, with the exception of 
the investment in epc Solutions Inc. which has been fully impaired.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less  
any impairment.
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1. Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, balances on bank accounts, cash in 
transit and cash floats held in the business.

Bank overdrafts and interest bearing bank loans are recorded at the proceeds received, net of issue costs. Finance charges are 
accounted for on an accruals basis and charged to the Income Statement when payable.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired when there is 
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial recognition, the estimated future cash flows of  
the investments have been impacted. Objective evidence of impairment could include significant financial difficulty of the issuer or 
counterparty; or default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy 
or financial reorganisation. The carrying amounts of financial assets are reduced by the amount of the impairment loss directly, except for 
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.  
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are classified as ‘other financial liabilities’. 

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and other payables and are initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs. 
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses forward contracts to hedge its exposure to foreign currency fluctuations. 

The fair value of the Group’s forward contracts is shown as a financial asset and/or liability at the balance sheet date. The Group’s use  
of forward contracts qualifies for hedge accounting under IAS 39 and accordingly the movement in fair value between the two balance 
sheet dates is taken directly to equity. In the Company’s books, these forward contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 
39 and accordingly the movement in fair value between the two balance sheet dates is taken through the Company’s Income Statement.

In the event of an ineffective hedge, the gain or loss of the ineffective portion would be recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are shown at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all 
estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. 

Cost represents materials, direct labour and overheads attributable to the stage of production. Cost is calculated using a weighted 
average method. 

Contingent consideration
Contingent consideration is payable to the former shareholders of current Group subsidiaries at amounts based on the future 
performance of those subsidiaries as agreed at the time of acquisition. These liabilities have been measured at their fair value based  
on management estimates of the expected consideration payable and after discounting the amounts payable to their present value.

Investment in own shares
The cost of the Company’s shares held by various trusts to satisfy equity-settled compensation schemes is deducted from equity 
attributable to shareholders in the Company and Group balance sheets.

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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1. Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
Revenue
Revenue comprises sales to customers after discounts and excludes sales taxes.

Sales of products are recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, the sales 
price agreed and the receipt of payment is reasonably certain.

Sales of services are recognised when the service has been performed and the receipt of payment is reasonably certain. Revenue on 
longer term service contracts is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the service, generally on a straight-line basis over 
the life of the contract.

Operating lease income is accounted for on a straight-line basis with any rental increases recognised during the period to which  
they relate.

Segment reporting
The Group’s primary reporting segment, as defined by IAS 14 Segment reporting, is geographic by location of subsidiary, which reflects 
how the Group manages its operations worldwide. 

The Group’s secondary reporting segment is business segment. The Group operates in one business segment: the development, 
manufacture and sale of industrial printing equipment and related products. 

Share-based payments
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based payments. In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 1,  
IFRS 2 has been applied to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that had not vested by 1 January 2005.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair 
value at the date of grant. 

The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of 
the number of shares that will eventually vest. There are both non-market and market based performance conditions attached to the 
vesting and exercising of equity instruments.

Where plans have market based performance criteria, fair value is measured by the use of a Monte Carlo model, and by Black-Scholes 
models in all other cases. The expected life used in the models is based on management’s best estimate of behavioural consideration 
based on historic exercise patterns. No changes to the fair value are made when the expected or actual level of awards vesting differs 
from the original estimate due to the non-attainment of market based conditions.

Charges made to the Income Statement in respect of share-based payments are credited back to Retained Earnings.

Foreign currency translation
The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
it operates (its ‘functional currency’). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each 
Group company are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the 
consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency are 
recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included in profit or 
loss for the year. 

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies in the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into sterling at the 
rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. The trading results and cash flows from operations of foreign subsidiaries are 
translated at the average rate of exchange for the year.

Exchange differences arising in the consolidated accounts on the retranslation at the closing rate of the Group’s opening net investments 
in foreign subsidiaries, together with any differences arising between the average rate and the closing rate in the Income Statement, are 
shown within a separate reserve in equity (the ‘Exchange Reserve’).
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1. Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
Under IFRS, goodwill and intangible assets arising on acquisition of overseas subsidiaries must be considered to be denominated in the 
functional currency of the acquired company. As such, foreign exchange differences arise due to the movement in exchange rates 
between balance sheet dates. The differences arising are shown within the Exchange Reserve.

Pension scheme arrangements
The Group operates a money purchase pension scheme for its UK employees and has similar schemes in other countries. The pension 
cost charge represents contributions payable in respect of the period.

Taxation
Current taxation is provided at amounts expected to be paid, or recovered, using the tax rates and laws in the relevant territory that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date. The tax charged for the period reflects the expected tax payable for the 
period along with adjustments for tax payable in respect of previous periods.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is measured at the rates that are expected to apply in the period when the temporary differences are expected to reverse, 
based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date. The Group’s deferred tax 
provision is measured on an undiscounted basis.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Income Statement except when it relates to items charged or credited directly in equity, in 
which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Dividends
Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the period in which the dividends are approved by 
the Company’s shareholders, in the case of the final dividend, or by the Board of Directors, in the case of the interim dividend. Dividends 
are shown as a component of the movement in shareholders’ equity.

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation and uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1, the directors are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

(a) Critical accounting judgements
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the directors 
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Intangible assets acquired through the purchase of subsidiary undertakings
In accordance with IFRS 3 Business combinations, the Group is required to recognise, on the acquisition of a subsidiary, internally 
generated intangible assets which the acquired company may hold but are not reflected in the balance sheet of the subsidiary. Examples 
of such assets would be trademarks, customer lists and network, intellectual property rights and technology portfolios. These assets are 
recognised separately from acquired goodwill.

Valuing such assets is dependent on numerous factors, including company forecasts and market benchmark data. Because of the 
complexity and subjectivity of this work, the Group engages independent, third party valuation experts to advise on the value of such 
assets to be recognised on acquisition and the period over which the assets should be charged to the Income Statement.

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation and uncertainty continued
(b) Key sources of estimation and uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation and uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have  
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are 
discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which goodwill  
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the  
cash generating unit and a suitable discount rate to calculate present value. The carrying value of goodwill at 31 October 2008 was 
£71,817,000. Goodwill is initially measured as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. Goodwill which is recognised as an asset is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed.

Contingent consideration
The Group initially estimates the amounts payable under ‘earn-out’ plans to the former shareholders of acquired companies based on  
the business model produced at the time of acquisition. Earn-out clauses within acquisition agreements typically contain provisions for 
amounts payable to the former shareholders based on future financial performance. In order to calculate the expected future payments, 
the acquisition business model contains estimates of the future financial performance for the acquired business. 

The post-acquisition performance and expected future performance of acquired companies is reviewed throughout the year. Any 
adjustments required to contingent consideration arising from a significant departure of financial performance from the original acquisition 
plan are made as required.

Provisions
The Group assesses the carrying value of both debtor and inventory balances based on past losses, current trading patterns and 
anticipated future events.

Provisions for expected future cash outflows are made based upon past experience and management’s assessment of likely outflow, 
after taking the appropriate professional advice when necessary. 
 
3. Segmental information
The Group manages its business on a geographical basis, based in three main regions: Europe, the Americas and Asia. The Group has 
subsidiary companies operating in these segments in the following countries:

Europe:   United Kingdom, France, Spain, Germany, Sweden, Denmark and the Netherlands
Americas: USA, Canada and Mexico
Rest of World:  China, Korea, India and Australia

(a) Segment revenue and result
        Rest of   
2008     Europe Americas  World  Eliminations Group 
By location of subsidiary     £000 £000  £000  £000  £000

External revenue     149,021 56,838 47,497 – 253,356
Inter-segment sales     93,566 12,403 2,177  (108,146) –

Total revenue     242,587 69,241 49,674 (108,146) 253,356

Segment result      28,799 286 10,127 (202) 39,010

Research and development          (13,720)

Operating profit         25,290
Net interest           (140)

Profit before taxation          25,150
Taxation         (8,516)

Profit for the year         16,634
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3. Segmental information continued
        Rest of   
2007     Europe Americas  World  Eliminations Group 
By location of subsidiary     £000 £000  £000  £000  £000

External revenue     136,572 53,135 41,781  – 231,488
Inter-segment sales     85,224 12,705 1,950 (99,879) –

Total revenue     221,796 65,840 43,731 (99,879) 231,488

Segment result      34,013 1,885 7,857   (956)  42,799

Research and development           (11,329)

Operating profit         31,470
Net interest           282

Profit before taxation          31,752
Taxation         (9,511)

Profit for the year         22,241

(b) Segment assets and liabilities
        Rest of   
2008     Europe Americas  World  Eliminations Group 
By location of subsidiary     £000 £000  £000  £000  £000

Segment assets     323,510 41,532 25,328 (169,086) 221,284

Segment liabilities     (152,320) (34,120) (13,564) 106,765 (93,239)

        Rest of   
2007     Europe Americas  World  Eliminations Group 
By location of subsidiary     £000 £000  £000  £000  £000

Segment assets     289,925 32,882 18,089 (150,603) 190,293

Segment liabilities     (118,042) (24,825) (9,585) 89,230 (63,222)

(c) Other segment items
         Rest of  
2008      Europe Americas  World  Group 
By location of subsidiary      £000 £000  £000  £000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment      3,036 1,064 788 4,888

Amortisation of intangible assets      1,197 387 27 1,611

Depreciation      3,599 715 514 4,828

Impairment loss      3,069 – – 3,069

         Rest of  
2007      Europe Americas  World  Group 
By location of subsidiary      £000 £000  £000  £000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment      2,661 549 434 3,644

Amortisation of intangible assets      762 388 52 1,202

Depreciation      3,115 624 439 4,178

The Group operates in one business segment: the development, manufacture and sale of industrial printing equipment and  
related products. 

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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3. Segmental information continued
Company
The Company’s business is to invest in its subsidiaries and associates and, therefore, it operates in a single segment.

Revenue by type
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:
        2008 2007 
Continuing operations        £000 £000

From sale of goods        232,987 210,454
From rendering of services        20,369 21,034

        253,356 231,488

Other operating income        152 2
Investment income        794 1,090

Total revenue        254,302 232,580

4. Profit before taxation
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
     Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Net foreign exchange gains      (3,643) (166) (549) (277)
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense     81,429 69,905 – – 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
– on owned assets      4,817 4,145 2 2
– on assets held under finance leases      11 33 – –
Amortisation of proprietary rights      41 15 13 15
Amortisation of intangible assets acquired through business combination   1,283 770 – –
Amortisation of other intangibles      287 417 43 13
Impairment loss recognised on available for sale equity investments   191 – – –
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables     159 41 – –
Share based compensation payments      670 1,065 609 1,006
Exceptional items     5 8,329 – – –
Operating lease rentals:
– plant and machinery      2,671 2,306 – –
– land and buildings      1,588 1,335 – 63

Auditors’ remuneration:      329 313 58 55
Other fees paid to Deloitte LLP, UK:
– tax services      70 116 60 89
Other fees paid to other member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu:      
– local statutory audit       82 47 – –
– tax services      83 53 – –
– other non-audit services      – 3 – –
Fees paid to other accountancy firms:
– audit      35 38 – –
– tax services      265 145 169 80
– other services      24 43 – –
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5. Exceptional items
The Group has incurred exceptional costs in the year totalling £8,329,000 summarised as follows:
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Relocation of manufacturing operations        1,828 –
Provisions for redundancies        3,432 –
Impairment of goodwill and acquisition intangibles relating to Control     3,069 –

        8,329 –

The restructuring of our US, UK and European operations led to exceptional costs of £5,260,000. These actions were taken in order to 
reduce the ongoing cost base in these businesses in the face of more difficult market conditions.

The Group has made an exceptional charge of £3,069,000 to write down the carrying value of Control Information Technology GmbH. 
The carrying values of these assets have been permanently impaired.

6. Employees
The average number employed by the Group and the Company within each category of persons was:
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      Number Number Number Number

Production and technical staff      689 671 – –
Sales and service staff      1,223 1,105 – –
Administrative staff (including directors)      323 308 17 18

      2,235 2,084 17 18

The costs incurred in respect of these employees were:
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Wages and salaries      62,157 57,419 2,394 2,458
Social security costs      8,441 7,714 200 239
Other pension costs      3,754 3,374 330 325

      74,352 68,507 2,924 3,022

7. Directors
(a) Directors’ remuneration
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Fees        316 316
Remuneration:
– salaries and taxable benefits        1,282 1,219
Amounts receivable under long term incentive schemes       1,089 212

        2,687 1,747
Money purchase pension scheme contributions       230 217
Gains on share options        27 –

Total remuneration        2,944 1,964

        Number Number

Number of directors in money purchase pension schemes      4 4

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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7. Directors continued
     Amounts  
     receivable  
     under 
     long term  Gains on  
  Salary   incentive  share 
  and fees Bonus Benefits schemes Pension options 2008 2007 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executives
N R Bond  337 114 26 542 86 – 1,105 655
G Havens  185 62 16 273 47 11 594 324
A C Herbert  208 70 16 274 53 16 637 391
R Waddingham  174 59 15 – 44 – 292 277

Non-executives
P J Byrom (Chairman)  161 – 1 – – – 162 160
W H Everitt  13 – – – – – 13 33
P S Jensen  14 – – – – – 14 33
P C Ruffles  35 – – – – – 35 33
Sir Mark Wrightson   35 – – – – – 35 25
Sir David Brown  9 – – – – – 9 –
C Brinsmead  13 – – – – – 13 –
J L Smith  35 – – – – – 35 33

Total emoluments  1,219 305 74 1,089 230 27 2,944 1,964

The bonuses paid to the Executive Directors are less than those receivable under the performance criteria of the scheme. The directors 
personally elected to waive an element of the bonuses payable as part of the overall programme to reduce costs for 2008.

Payments made under the Long Term Incentive Plan in the year relate to an original conditional award of shares made in 2002. The initial 
performance period was measured between 2002 and 2005. Performance conditions were as outlined in the Remuneration Report on 
page 36. Shares which vested in 2005 were held in trust for a further three year period over which time additional awards were made in 
line with the scheme rules.

Fees included above totalling £64,400 (2007: £63,000) were paid to Stockbridge Limited, a company of which Mr Byrom is a director. 
Further unaudited details of directors’ remuneration are contained in the Remuneration Report on pages 34 to 38.

(b) Directors’ interests in shares
The directors who were in office at the end of the year and their beneficial interests in the shares of the Company were as set out below:
  
     LTIP 
     shares held in  Interest   
     trust for the in Share  31 October 31 October 
     benefit of the  Incentive Other 2008 2007 
     director Plan shares shares held Total Total 
     Number Number Number Number Number

P J Byrom*     – – 314,000 314,000 290,000
N R Bond     75,742 3,350 102,955 182,087 256,855
Sir David Brown     – – – – –
G Havens     39,097 3,350 60,041 102,488 128,121
A C Herbert     40,321 3,350 100,235 143,906 149,149
C Brinsmead     – – – – –
P C Ruffles     – – 20,000 20,000 20,000
J L Smith     – – – – –
Sir Mark Wrightson     – – 30,935 30,935 30,935
R Waddingham     – 582 4,829 5,411 5,206

*  Mr Byrom has a non-beneficial interest in a further 24,000 shares (2007: 8,000 shares). No other director had a non-beneficial interest in the shares of the Company or any other 
Group company.
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7. Directors continued
During the year the mid-market price for the Company’s shares moved between 177.25 pence and 345 pence. On 31 October 2008,  
the mid-market price for the shares was 199 pence. 

(b) (i) Interests in Long Term Incentive Plans
The conditional allocations of shares made to directors under the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plans at 31 October 2008 were  
as follows:
       Allocation on Lapsed on  
       1 July 19 January  
       2008 2008  
      Total at Mid-market Mid-market Total at 
      31 October share price  share price 31 October 
      2008 380 pence 300 pence 2007

N R Bond      193,593 121,766 (38,454) 110,281
G Havens      104,697 66,707 (20,396) 58,386
A C Herbert      118,320 75,177 (22,384) 65,527
R Waddingham      98,258 62,824 – 35,434

      514,868 326,474 (81,234) 269,628

The shares comprised in conditional allocations will be allocated to the extent that the performance conditions described in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 34 to 38 are met over the three year performance period. The allocated shares under the LTIP 1997 
scheme are held in trust for a further three years. 

The directors have received the following awards of shares under the Long Term Incentive Plan which are currently held in trust:
          
Number of shares awarded on:      N R Bond G Havens A C Herbert R Waddingham

14 January 2008 (mid-market share price 313 pence)     4,859 2,616 2,803 –
26 February 2008 (mid-market share price 307 pence)     7,159 3,580 3,580 –
14 January 2007 (mid-market share price 324 pence)     26,994 14,536 15,573 –
26 February 2007 (mid-market share price 366 pence)     5,603 2,801 2,801 –
26 February 2006 (mid-market share price 270 pence)     31,127 15,564 15,564 –

Total at 31 October 2008      75,742 39,097 40,321 –

The following conditional allocations of shares were made to the Executive Directors on 12 December 2008:

         Shares

N R Bond         322,347
G Havens         176,591
A C Herbert         199,014
R Waddingham         166,312

(b) (ii) Interests in Share Incentive Plan
The following purchases of shares have been made by and on behalf of the directors under the terms of the Share Incentive Plan. These 
shares are held in trust for the directors under the terms of the plan.
        31 October 31 October 
        2008 2007 
        Number Number

N R Bond        3,350 2,727
G Havens        3,350 2,727
A C Herbert        3,350 2,727
R Waddingham        582 377

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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7. Directors continued
No director had beneficial or family interests at any time during the year in the share capital of any of the Company’s subsidiaries. There 
has been no change in directors’ interests between 31 October 2008 and 5 January 2009 except that P R Ruffles purchased 10,000 
shares on 9 December 2008 and Sir David Brown purchased 10,000 shares on 11 December 2008 and the following purchases of 
shares have been made by and on behalf of directors under the terms of the Share Incentive Plan. These shares are held in trust for the 
directors under the terms of the plan.

         Number of 
         shares

N R Bond         174
G Havens         174
A C Herbert         174
R Waddingham         57

(c) Interests in share options
Under the terms of the SAYE schemes, directors held the following options over shares:
         At 
     Granted Granted Granted Granted 31 October 
     26 February 22 February 1 April 25 July 2008 
     2004 2005 2007 2008 Total 
     Number Number Number Number Number

N R Bond     – 7,906 – – 7,906
G Havens     – – 2,364 – 2,364
A C Herbert     4,498 – – 4,308 8,806
R Waddingham     – – 682 – 682

Exercise price (pence)     157 209 277 227

The options granted are exercisable within a six month period commencing three, five or seven years from the date of grant.

Details of options exercised during the year are as follows:
        Market 
        price  
       Exercise at exercise Gain on 
       price date exercise 
      Number Pence Pence £000

G Havens      5,814 113 306.5 11
A C Herbert      8,721 113 303.5 16

8. Share-based payments
Operating profit for the year ended 31 October 2008 is stated after charging £670,000 in respect of share-based compensation 
(2007: £1,064,000). 

The assumptions used in the calculations of share-based compensation charges are as follows:

    Executive   Long Term 
    option  SAYE  Incentive 
2008    schemes schemes Plans

Expected life (years)1    4.5  Term2 plus 0.25 3–6
Vesting period (years)    3 Term2 3–63

Expected volatility of Domino share price4    26–28% 26–28% 26–27%
Volatility of benchmarked index    N/a N/a 13.02%
Expectation of ceasing employment/discontinuing
SAYE contributions before vesting    5% 25–40% 0%
Expectation of meeting non-market based performance criteria   100% N/a 20–100%
Risk free rate5   4.20–4.62% 3.80–4.71% 3.92–5.17%
Expected dividend yield6   2.33–3.23% 2.33–3.23% 2.33–3.23%
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8. Share-based payments continued
    Executive   Long Term 
    option  SAYE  Incentive 
2007    schemes schemes Plans

Expected life (years)1    4.5  Term2 plus 0.25 6
Vesting period (years)    3 Term2 3–63

Expected volatility of Domino share price4    26% 26% 26%
Volatility of benchmarked index    N/a N/a 11.25%
Expectation of ceasing employment before vesting    10–15% 20–30% 0%
Expectation of meeting non-market based performance criteria   100% N/a 100%
Risk free rate5   3.71–4.62% 3.80–4.63% 3.92–4.62%
Expected dividend yield6   2.33–3.23% 2.33–3.23% 2.33–3.23%

1 The expected life used in the models is based on management’s best estimate of behavioural consideration based on historic exercise patterns.
2 Domino SAYE schemes have maturity periods of three, five or seven years.
3 Initial awards relating to the 1997 scheme vest after three years and are placed in trust for the benefit of the participants for a further three years. Bonus awards follow on the 

fourth, fifth and sixth anniversaries of the date of grant. Initial awards under the 2008 scheme vest unconditionally after three years.
4 The Domino share price volatility used is based on a long term volatility percentage calculated from historic share price data.
5 The risk free rate of return is the yield on zero coupon UK government bonds consistent with the assumed expected life at the date of grant.
6 The expected dividend yield used at the date of grant is the dividend per share for the previous financial year divided by the share price at the end of that financial year. 

The Company has two share option schemes for employees of the Group.

The Executive option scheme has a vesting period of three years. If options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of 
grant, the options expire. Options are forfeited if the employee resigns from the Group before the options vest. Options are exercisable at 
a price equal to the average quoted market price of the Company’s shares over the three days prior to the date of grant. 

The SAYE schemes have vesting periods of three, five or seven years. Options are exercisable for a period of six months from the date of 
vesting, after this period the options expire. Options are exercisable at a price equal to the average quoted market price of the Company’s 
shares over the three days prior to the date of invitation discounted by a maximum of 20 per cent. 

Details of share options granted, exercised, lapsed and outstanding at the end of the year are as follows. 

       2008  2007 
       Weighted  Weighted 
       average   average 
      Share exercise Share exercise 
      options price options price 
      Number £ Number £

Executive option schemes
Outstanding at beginning of year      2,225,024 2.55 2,155,007 2.17
Granted in year      564,500 3.14 518,500 3.33
Lapsed in year      (36,145) 2.40 (10,007) 2.16
Exercised in year      (295,345) 1.86 (438,476) 1.62

Outstanding at end of year      2,458,034 2.77 2,225,024 2.55

Exercisable at end of year      878,775 2.33 509,024 1.64

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was £3.05. The options outstanding 
at 31 October 2008 had exercise prices ranging from £1.20 to £3.33 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.79 years.  
In 2008, options were granted on 10 January 2008. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted on that date is 
£247,000. In 2007, options were granted on 24 January 2007. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted on that 
date is £403,000.

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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8. Share-based payments continued
       2008  2007 
       Weighted  Weighted 
       average   average 
      Share exercise Share exercise 
      options price options price 
      Number £ Number £

SAYE schemes
Outstanding at beginning of year      1,556,153 1.65 1,470,096 1.45
Granted in year      468,580 2.27 259,960 2.77
Lapsed in year      (109,947) 2.31 (95,478) 1.63
Exercised in year      (783,686) 1.22 (78,425) 1.48

Outstanding at end of year      1,131,100 2.16 1,556,153 1.65

Exercisable at end of year      – – – –

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was £3.03. The options outstanding 
at 31 October 2008 had exercise prices ranging from £1.13 to £2.77 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.16 years.  
In 2008, options were granted on 25 July 2008. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted on that date is 
£402,000. In 2007, options were granted on 26 February 2007. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted  
on that date is £231,000.

9. Investment income
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Bank interest receivable        794 1,090

10. Finance costs
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Interest payable on:
– bank overdrafts and other borrowings        288 276
– finance leases        1 3
– accounting for discounted deferred consideration (see note 23)      525 446
– other        120 83

        934 808

11. Tax on profit 
(a) Analysis of tax charge for the year

        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Corporation tax
Corporation tax charge for the year        4,719 6,043
Foreign tax        4,334 4,182
(Over)/under provision for earlier years        (247) 109

Current tax charge        8,806 10,334
Deferred tax
Timing differences, origination and reversal        (104) (682)
Increase/decrease in tax rate        (217) (173)
Prior period adjustment        31 32

Total deferred tax        (290) (823)

Tax on profit        8,516 9,511

Effective tax rate (%)        33.9 30.0
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11. Tax on profit continued
(b) Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Profit before taxation        25,150 31,752

Tax on profit on ordinary activities at UK standard rate of 28.8% (2007: 30%)     7,252 9,526
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes        361 523
Non-utilisation/(utilisation) of tax losses        657 (4)
Other deferred tax movements        955 (284)
Research and development tax credits        (200) (268)
Foreign exchange reserve movement        – 10
Difference between local and UK tax rates        (293) (133)
Prior period adjustments        (216) 141

Tax charge for the year        8,516 9,511

The standard rate of tax for the year, based on a weighted average of the UK standard rate of corporation tax is 28.8% (2007: 30%).  
The actual tax charge for the current and preceding year differs from the current rate for the reasons set out in the above reconciliation.

12. Profit for the year
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Profit dealt with in the accounts of the parent company       8,944 8,225

The Company has taken advantage of section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 and consequently an income statement for the Company 
alone is not presented.

13. Dividends
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:
Final dividend for the year ended 31 October 2007 of 6.4 pence per share (2006: 5.33 pence)   6,946 5,908
Interim paid of 4.15 pence per share (2007: 3.46 pence)       4,524 3,847

        11,470 9,755

The Board recommends a final dividend of 7.68 pence per share. The proposed final dividend is subject to approval at the Annual 
General Meeting and has not been included as a liability at 31 October 2008. Subject to approval, the dividend will be paid on 9 April 
2009 to those shareholders appearing on the register at the close of business on 6 March 2009.

14. Earnings per share
(a) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the 
year (110,027,355) less the weighted average shares in the Company purchased by the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust (1,474,123) 
less the weighted average shares issued to the Company’s QUEST scheme (35,867) less the weighted average number of shares held to 
satisfy the Group’s Share Incentive Plan (99,540). The weighted average number of shares used is 108,417,825 (2007: 110,216,511).

(b) Diluted earnings per share
The weighted average number of shares used in the diluted earnings per share calculation is the figure used in the basic earnings per 
share calculation adjusted by 483,222, being the number of shares deemed to be issued for no consideration if all share options had 
been exercised. The weighted average number of shares used is 108,901,047 (2007: 111,404,573).

The earnings used in the diluted earnings per share calculation is the profit on ordinary activities attributable to shareholders.

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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14. Earnings per share continued
(c) Underlying earnings per share
The Group presents an alternative measure of earnings per share before the post-tax effects of:

amortisation of intangible assets arising on business combinations;•	
any exceptional costs incurred in the year; and•	
the notional, non-cash interest charge on discounted long term contingent consideration.•	

The effect of the above items on both basic and diluted earnings per share is presented below:

Basic        2008 2007

Earnings per share (pence)        15.33 20.14
Effect of acquired intangibles amortisation (pence)       0.85 0.49
Effect of exceptional expenses (pence)        6.29 –
Effect of notional interest charge on discounted contingent consideration (pence)    0.48 0.41

Underlying earnings per share (pence)        22.95 21.04

Diluted        2008 2007

Earnings per share (pence)        15.26 19.93
Effect of acquired intangibles amortisation (pence)       0.85 0.48
Effect of exceptional expenses (pence)        6.25 –
Effect of notional interest charge on discounted contingent consideration (pence)    0.49 0.40 

Underlying earnings per share (pence)        22.85 20.81

15. Goodwill
         Group 
          £000

Cost
At 1 November 2006         49,053
Exchange differences         (381)
Adjustments to contingent consideration         (1,481)
Additions         4,977

At 1 November 2007         52,168

Exchange differences         2,969
Adjustments to contingent consideration         (3,582)
Additions         22,093

At 31 October 2008         73,648

Impairment losses
At 1 November 2006 and 1 November 2007         –
Impairment losses for the year         (1,831)

At 31 October 2008         (1,831)

Carrying value

At 31 October 2008         71,817

At 1 November 2007         52,168

At 1 November 2006         49,053
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15. Goodwill continued
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated upon acquisition to the cash generating units (‘CGUs’) that are expected to 
benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated as follows:
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Single CGUs
Domino Coding Limited PR        480 480
Domino Printing Solutions Inc.        1,498 1,498
Domino Printech India Private Limited        332 332
Pri-Ma-Tech Verwaltungs GmbH        645 573
Citronix LP        9,915 7,596
Domino Deutschland GmbH Commercial Printing business      455 455
Belgian coding and marking business        1,292 –

Comprising several CGUs
Laser product range        14,158 11,457
Outer Case Coding product range        3,249 3,249
Wiedenbach product range        6,112 6,112
Purex product range         4,994 3,708
Integrated Solutions        1,458 5,601
Print and Apply product range        5,056 5,112
Thermal Transfer Overprinting product range       5,561 5,995
Thermal Ink Jet product range        16,612 –

        71,817 52,168

The Group tests annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use 
calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the 
period. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts within the CGUs. Likewise, changes in selling 
prices and direct costs are based on recent history and expectations of future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management and, where 
applicable, relevant acquisition business plans. Cash flow projections for the next five years are prepared based on these sources and 
estimated growth rates. Cash flows beyond five years are then calculated into perpetuity using a growth rate equal to long term inflation, 
on the basis that these businesses are held for the long term benefit of the Group.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows for each CGU is 10 per cent.

At 31 October 2008, before impairment testing, goodwill of £5,601,000 was allocated to the Integrated Solutions CGU. The value to 
Domino of the business of Control Information Technology GmbH, the supplier of Track and Trace and line control software to the 
pharmaceutical and other industries, has been reviewed in light of changes in the economic environment. Legislation covering item level 
serialisation and authentication of pharmaceutical products expected to take full effect in 2009 has now been delayed, in some key 
territories by up to six years. Therefore, the Group has revised its cash flow forecasts for this CGU. As a result, goodwill allocated to the 
Integrated Solutions CGU has been reduced to its recoverable amount through the release of £2,245,000 contingent consideration 
associated with the acquisition of Control and recognition of an impairment loss against goodwill of £1,831,000.

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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16. Intangible fixed assets
(a) Group
     Proprietary  Application  Customer  
     rights software Technology* relationships* Total 
     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation
At 1 November 2006     836 3,472 2,635 2,446 9,389
Additions     – 205 1,391 – 1,596
Disposals     – (62) – – (62)
Exchange adjustment     – (112) 38 (60) (134)

At 1 November 2007     836 3,503 4,064 2,386 10,789

Additions     – 111 4,654 3,452 8,217
Acquisitions     – 18 – – 18
Disposals     – (5) – – (5)
Exchange adjustment     – 545 127 384 1,056

At 31 October 2008     836 4,172 8,845 6,222 20,075

Amortisation
At 1 November 2006     762 2,817 136 569 4,284
Charge for the year     15 417 323 447 1,202
On disposals     – (56) – – (56)
Exchange adjustment     – (113) – – (113)

At 1 November 2007     777 3,065 459 1,016 5,317

Charge for the year     41 287 571 712 1,611
On disposals     – (4) – – (4)
Impairment     – – 1,238 – 1,238
Exchange adjustment     – 510 – – 510

At 31 October 2008     818 3,858 2,268 1,728 8,672

Net book value
At 31 October 2008     18 314 6,577 4,494 11,403

At 1 November 2007     59 438 3,605 1,370 5,472

At 1 November 2006     74 655 2,499 1,877 5,105

* Intangible assets acquired through business combinations

(b) Company
        Proprietary 
       Software rights Total 
       £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 November 2006        – 338 338
Additions       130 – 130

At 1 November 2007 and 31 October 2008      130 338 468

Amortisation
At 1 November 2006       – 293 293
Charge for the year       13 15 28

At 1 November 2007       13 308 321

Charge for the year       43 13 56

At 31 October 2008       56 321 377

Net book value
At 31 October 2008       74 17 91

At 1 November 2007       117 30 147

At 1 November 2006       – 45 45
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17. Property, plant and equipment
(a) Group
     Land and  Motor  Plant and  Fixtures  
     buildings  vehicles  machinery  and fittings  Total 
     £000 £000  £000  £000  £000

Cost or valuation
At 1 November 2006     25,974 1,229  25,872  8,511 61,586
Exchange adjustment      (444) (11) (53) (98) (606)
Additions      131 261 2,905 347 3,644
Acquisitions     – 38 26 2 66
Disposals      (559) (311) (5,767) (1,273) (7,910)

At 1 November 2007     25,102 1,206  22,983  7,489 56,780

Exchange adjustment      3,172 198 3,372 697 7,439
Additions      790 415 2,968 715 4,888
Acquisitions     57 4 450 20 531
Disposals      (537) (416) (5,080) (493) (6,526)

At 31 October 2008     28,584 1,407 24,693 8,428 63,112

Depreciation
At 1 November 2006     10,422  861  20,155  7,161  38,599
Exchange adjustment      (163) (8) (128) (100) (399)
Charge for the year      805 195 2,743 435 4,178
Disposals      (558) (262) (5,668) (1,270) (7,758)

At 1 November 2007     10,506  786  17,102  6,226  34,620

Exchange adjustment      1,535 112 2,520 610 4,777
Charge for the year      842 254 3,272 460 4,828
Disposals      (534) (383) (4,883) (486) (6,286)

At 31 October 2008      12,349 769 18,011 6,810 37,939

Net book value
At 31 October 2008      16,235 638 6,682 1,618 25,173

At 1 November 2007      14,596 420 5,881 1,263 22,160

At 1 November 2006     15,552 368  5,717  1,350  22,987

‘Plant and machinery’ includes assets held for use in operating leases with an aggregate cost of £5,392,000 (2007: £4,192,000) and 
accumulated depreciation of £3,710,000 (2007: £2,348,000).

Included in Group fixed assets are assets with a net book value of £23,000 (2007: £28,000) held under finance leases.

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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17. Property, plant and equipment continued
(b) Company
         Freehold land 
         and buildings 
         £000

Cost or valuation
At 1 November 2006, 1 November 2007 and at 31 October 2008       1,579

Depreciation
At 1 November 2006         51
Charge for the year         2

At 1 November 2007         53

Charge for the year         2

At 31 October 2008         55

Net book value
At 31 October 2008         1,524

At 1 November 2007         1,526

At 1 November 2006         1,528

The Company has no fixed assets held under finance leases.

18. Fixed asset investments
(a) Group
        Available  
       Associate for sale Total 
       £000 £000 £000

Valuation
At 1 November 2006       20 2,372 2,392
Share of retained profit in associate       2 – 2
Exchange adjustment       – (16) (16)

At 1 November 2007       22 2,356 2,378

Share of retained profit in associate       4 – 4
Exchange adjustment       – 11 11

At 31 October 2008       26 2,367 2,393

Provisions and amortisation
At 1 November 2006 and 1 November 2007       – 682 682
Impairment       – 191 191

At 31 October 2008       – 873 873

Net book value
At 31 October 2008       26 1,494 1,520

At 1 November 2007       22 1,674 1,696

At 1 November 2006       20 1,690 1,710

 
The Group holds 19.35 per cent of the equity in Graph-Tech AG, which is valued at £1,484,000. Graph-Tech AG is incorporated in Switzerland.

The Group holds 3.5 per cent of the equity in epc Solutions Inc. epc Solutions Inc. is incorporated in the United States of America.  
This investment has been fully impaired during the year.
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18. Fixed asset investments continued
The Group holds 95 per cent of the equity in Thermoscribe AB. The Thermoscribe group of companies holds a 25 per cent investment in 
the equity of Mectec Coding Benelux BV, a company incorporated in the Netherlands.

The Group holds 10 per cent of the equity in Domino Inkjet A/S, which is valued at £10,000. Domino Inkjet A/S is incorporated in Denmark. 

(b) Company 
        Available  
       Unlisted for sale  
       subsidiaries investments Total 
       £000 £000 £000

Shares
At 1 November 2006 and 1 November 2007       73,359 1,803 75,162
Adjustments to deferred consideration       (1,392) – (1,392)

At 31 October 2008       71,967 1,803 73,770

Loans
At 1 November 2006       21,833 – 21,833
Exchange adjustment       (514)  – (514)
Repayments       (1,023) – (1,023)

At 1 November 2007       20,296 – 20,296

Repayments       (203) – (203)
Additions       987 – 987
Exchange adjustment       3,504 – 3,504

At 31 October 2008       24,584 – 24,584

Provisions
At 1 November 2006, 1 November 2007 and 31 October 2008     8,530 319 8,849

Net book value
At 31 October 2008       88,021 1,484 89,505

At 1 November 2007       85,125 1,484 86,609

At 1 November 2006       86,662 1,484 88,146

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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18. Fixed asset investments continued
(c) Acquisitions
All subsidiaries acquired have been accounted for using the acquisition method.

On 12 November 2007, the Group acquired the trade and certain assets of the coding business of Bopack Systems NV (‘Belgian 
Business’). The following table gives details of the provisional fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired, the consideration paid and 
the goodwill that has been transferred to the balance sheet:
        Fair value   
       Book value adjustments Fair value 
       £000 £000 £000

Assets and liabilities acquired
Property, plant and equipment       106 (2) 104
Inventories       611 (389) 222

Net assets acquired       717 (391) 326

Assets arising on consolidation
Intangible assets acquired as part of the business combination       1,652

Total assets arising on acquisition         1,978

Purchase consideration
Initial cash payment         3,057
Directly attributable costs         83

Total consideration         3,140

Goodwill         1,162

The total contribution of the Belgian Business’ revenue and operating profit to the Group’s results in 2008 is as follows:

         £000

Revenue         3,663
Cost of sales         (2,191)

Gross profit         1,472
Selling and distribution expenses         (334)
Administrative expenses         (853)

Operating profit         285

In prior years Domino sold products into Belgium through its Belgian distributor Bopack Systems NV. The incremental benefit to Group 
sales for the year ended 31 October 2008 as a result of acquiring the Belgian Business was £1,600,000. 
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18. Fixed asset investments continued
On 26 June 2008, the Group acquired 100 per cent of the share capital of Photon Energy GmbH and its wholly owned subsidiary NWL 
Lasertechnologie GmbH (‘Photon Energy’). The following table gives details of the provisional fair values of the assets and liabilities 
acquired, the consideration paid and the goodwill that has been transferred to the balance sheet:
        Fair value   
       Book value adjustments Fair value 
       £000 £000 £000

Assets and liabilities acquired
Intangible assets       9 – 9
Property, plant and equipment       293 (40) 253
Inventories       2,167 (914) 1,253
Trade and other receivables       1,275 (238) 1,037
Cash and cash equivalents       (411) – (411)
Loans       (1,401) (111) (1,512)
Trade and other payables       (981) – (981)

Net assets/(liabilities) acquired       951 (1,303) (352)

Assets arising on consolidation
Intangible assets acquired as part of the business combination       1,604
Deferred tax liability arising on valuation of acquired intangible assets      (449)

         1,155

Total assets arising on acquisition of subsidiary        803

Purchase consideration
Initial cash payment         3,461
Directly attributable costs         66

Total consideration         3,527

Goodwill         2,724

The total contribution of Photon Energy revenue and operating profit to the Group’s results in 2008 is as follows:

         £000

Revenue         1,405
Cost of sales         (701)

Gross profit         704
Selling and distribution expenses         (134)
Administrative expenses         (303)
Research and development expenses         (225)

Operating profit         42

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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18. Fixed asset investments continued
On 31 August 2008, the Group acquired 95 per cent of the share capital of aps Alternative Printing Services GmbH (‘APS’). The former 
major shareholder and Managing Director, Werner Schaffer, holds the remaining 5 per cent. The following table gives details of the 
provisional fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired, the consideration paid and the goodwill that has been transferred to the 
balance sheet:

        Fair value   
       Book value adjustments Fair value 
       £000 £000 £000

Assets and liabilities acquired
Intangible assets       400 (391) 9
Property, plant and equipment       112 – 112
Inventories       703 (264) 439
Trade and other receivables       967 – 967
Cash and cash equivalents       (57) – (57)
Loans       (481) – (481)
Trade and other payables       (475) – (475)

Net assets acquired       1,169 (655) 514
Minority interest         (27)

Share of net assets acquired         487

Assets arising on consolidation
Intangible assets acquired as part of the business combination       4,850
Deferred tax liability arising on valuation of acquired intangible assets      (1,358)

         3,492

Total assets arising on acquisition of subsidiary        3,979

Purchase consideration
Initial cash payment         11,174
Contingent consideration         9,771
Directly attributable costs         119

Total consideration         21,064

Goodwill         17,085

The total contribution of APS revenue and operating profit to the Group’s results in 2008 is as follows:

         £000

Revenue         740
Cost of sales         (492)

Gross profit         248
Selling and distribution expenses         (150)
Administrative expenses         (74)
Research and development expenses         (9)

Operating profit         15
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18. Fixed asset investments continued
On 13 October 2008, the Group acquired the trade and certain assets of the air purification business of PAT Technology Systems Inc. 
(‘PAT’). The following table gives details of the provisional fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired, the consideration paid and the 
goodwill that has been transferred to the balance sheet:
        Fair value   
       Book value adjustments Fair value 
       £000 £000 £000

Assets and liabilities acquired
Property, plant and equipment       62 – 62
Inventories       114 (20) 94
Trade and other receivables       201 – 201
Cash and cash equivalents       13 – 13
Trade and other payables       (212) (20) (232)

Net assets acquired       178 (40) 138

Total assets arising on acquisition         138

Purchase consideration
Initial cash payment         1,072
Contingent consideration         132
Directly attributable costs         56

Total consideration         1,260

Goodwill         1,122

The total contribution of PAT revenue and operating loss to the Group’s results in 2008 is as follows:

         £000

Revenue         39
Cost of sales         (21)

Gross profit         18
Selling and distribution expenses         (11)
Administrative expenses         (14)

Operating loss         (7)

(d) Pro forma Group result
If the results of the Belgian Business, Photon, APS and PAT had been consolidated for the period of the Group’s full financial year,  
Group revenues would have been £262,727,000 and profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Company would have  
been £17,057,000.

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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18. Fixed asset investments continued
(e) Subsidiaries
The following are the subsidiaries which affected the Group’s results or net assets:

         Country of 
         incorporation 
         and operation

Alpha Dot Limited         †England and Wales
Domino UK Limited         England and Wales
Domino Printing Sciences QUEST Trustees Limited        England and Wales
Purex International Limited        England and Wales
On-Line Coding Limited        †*England and Wales
Domino Deutschland GmbH         Germany
Domino Holdings Deutschland GmbH        Germany
Wiedenbach Apparatebau GmbH        *Germany
Sator Laser GmbH         *Germany
Pri-Ma-Tech Verwaltungs GmbH        *Germany
Control Information Technology GmbH        *Germany
aps Alternative Printing Services GmbH        *Germany
APS France SARL        *France
APS Asia-Pacific Pty Ltd        *Australia
Photon Energy GmbH        *Germany
NWL Lasertechnologie GmbH        *Germany
Domino Amjet BV         The Netherlands
Domino Holdings France SARL         France
Domino SAS         *France
Domino Amjet Iberica SA         Spain
Thermoscribe AB        Sweden
Meckap AB        *Sweden
Mectec Elektronik AB        *Sweden
Easyprint A/S        Denmark
Domino Portugal Producao Commercializacao De Equipmento Electronico LDA     †*Portugal
The Domino Corporation         USA
Domino Holdings Inc.         *USA
Domino Amjet Inc.         *USA
Domino Lasers Inc.        *USA
Domino Control Systems Inc.        †*USA
Citronix Holdings GP LLC        *USA
Citronix LP        *USA
Domino Integrated Solutions Group (Americas) Inc        *USA
Wiedenbach Corporation        *USA
Wiedenbach Company LP        *USA
Domino Printing México SA de CV         Mexico
Domino Printing Solutions Inc.         Canada
Domino Printech India Private Limited         India
Domino China Limited (formerly Domino Coding Limited PR)      China
Domino Coding (Hong Kong) Limited         China
Domino Asia Limited (formerly Domino Coding (Shanghai) Limited)      China
Domino Korea Pte Limited         Korea
Domino (Australia) Pty Limited         Australia

† Dormant companies 
* Indirectly held
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18. Fixed asset investments continued
All subsidiaries are directly or indirectly 100 per cent owned by the Company, other than aps Alternative Printing Services GmbH,  
APS France SARL, APS Asia-Pacific Pty Ltd, Thermoscribe AB, Meckap AB and Mectec Elekronik AB which are 95 per cent owned.

All subsidiaries make up their accounts to 31 October except, for local statutory reasons, Domino Printech India Private Limited which 
makes up its accounts to 31 March, and Domino Printing México SA de CV, Domino Integrated Solutions Group (Americas) Inc., Domino 
China Limited, Domino Coding (Hong Kong) Limited, Domino Asia Limited, aps Alternative Printing Services GmbH, APS France SARL 
and APS Asia-Pacific Pty Ltd which make up their accounts to 31 December. For these subsidiaries, interim accounts are prepared to the 
Group’s year end.

All the trading subsidiaries are engaged in providing customers with coding solutions. These include Ink Jet products, Laser products, 
Outer Case Coding products, controller technology, Print and Apply Labelling Machinery, Thermal Transfer Overprinting technology and 
Track and Trace technology.

19. Inventories
         Group 
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Raw materials and consumables        11,383 11,908
Work in progress        1,674 1,115
Finished goods and goods for resale        14,303 14,065

        27,360 27,088

The directors do not consider that the replacement cost of inventories and work in progress is materially different from the value  
stated above.

20. Trade and other receivables
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Trade receivables      48,867 41,422 – –
Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables     (2,857) (2,037) – –

Trade receivables – net      46,010 39,385 – –

Amounts owed by Group companies       – – 13,308 8,596
Prepayments and accrued income       2,999 2,110 8  49
Corporation tax recoverable       680 593 – –
Other receivables      2,329 1,712 – –

      52,018 43,800 13,316 8,645

Included within Group receivables are receivables of £265,000 (2007: £242,000) due after more than one year. The Company has no 
receivables falling due after more than one year.

The average credit period taken on sales of goods is 61 days (2007: 61 days). An allowance has been made for the estimated 
irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods and services of £2,857,000 (2007: £2,037,000). This allowance has been determined by 
reference to past default experience. The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their 
fair value.

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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20. Trade and other receivables continued
The ageing of past due but not impaired trade receivables at the reporting date was:
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Past due 0–30 days      6,500 5,562 – –
Past due 31–60 days      2,109 2,050 – –
Past due 61–90 days      787 668 – –
Past due >90 days      898 1,288 – –

      10,294 9,568 – –

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:
         Group 
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

At 1 November         (2,037) (1,603)
Utilised in the year        159 41
Additional provisions in the year        (979) (475)

At 31 October         (2,857) (2,037)

The Company has no trade receivables and therefore no provision for doubtful debts.

All impaired trade receivables are in excess of 90 days past due.

Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances, cash and trade and other receivables. The Group’s credit risk is primarily 
attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. The 
Group seeks to limit credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments through trading only with counterparties that are banks 
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 
date was:
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents      26,608 33,878 8,874 21,300 
Trade and other receivables      52,018 43,800 13,316 8,645

      78,626 77,678 22,190 29,945

The maximum exposure to credit risk for total trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:

       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Europe      33,592 29,658 – –
Americas      9,615 7,578 – –
Rest of World      5,660 4,186 – –

      48,867 41,422 – –



Domino Printing Sciences plc Annual report and financial statements 2008 Financial Statements

78

21. Current liabilities – Trade and other payables
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Trade payables      12,852 13,733 – –
Obligations under finance leases       17 13  – – 
Corporation tax payable       3,541 5,222  672 229 
Other taxation and social security       2,934 2,398 – – 
Other payables      573 281  – –
Accruals and deferred income       30,929 24,060  1,362 1,484
Deferred and contingent consideration for acquisitions (see note 23)   2,660 869 212 –
Amounts owed to Group companies       – –  41,033 37,532

      53,506 46,576 43,279 39,245

Amounts payable in respect of defined contribution pension schemes were £644,000 (2007: £558,000).

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit period 
taken for trade purchases is 27 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid 
within the credit timeframe.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

22. Non-current liabilities – Other payables
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Obligations under finance leases      17 12 – –
Loans (see note 28)      943 570 – –
Other payables      5 10 – – 
Deferred and contingent consideration for acquisitions (see note 23)   16,517 11,709 3,029 4,506
Accruals and deferred income      85 117 – –

      17,567 12,418 3,029 4,506

‘Obligations under finance leases’ fall due after more than one year but not more than two years.

23. Contingent and deferred consideration
The Group makes estimates of the amounts expected to be paid to the former shareholders in respect of the acquisitions of Purex 
International Limited (‘Purex’), Citronix LP, Domino Integrated Solutions Group (Americas) Inc. (‘DISG’), Thermoscribe AB, Easyprint A/S, 
On-Line Coding Ltd (‘OLC’), Control Information Technology GmbH (‘Control’), aps Alternative Printing Services GmbH (‘APS’) and PAT 
Technology Systems Inc. (‘PAT’) as the amounts payable will ultimately be determined with reference to post-acquisition performance.

The amounts expected to be paid and the maturity profile of those obligations is expected to be as follows:

        Thermo-   
 PAT APS Control OLC Purex Citronix DISG scribe Easyprint Total 
Group 2008 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current – – 78 42 1,046 1,282 – – 212 2,660
Non-current 132 9,568 – 469 – 3,319 – 1,889 1,140 16,517

At 31 October 2008 132 9,568 78 511 1,046 4,601 – 1,889 1,352 19,177

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008



Domino Printing Sciences plc Annual report and financial statements 2008

79

23. Contingent and deferred consideration continued
       Thermo-   
  Control OLC Purex Citronix DISG scribe Easyprint Total 
Group 2007  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current  67 42 – 760 – – – 869
Non-current  2,256 532 882 3,208 325 2,115 2,391 11,709

At 31 October 2007  2,323 574 882 3,968 325 2,115 2,391 12,578

The liabilities to the former shareholders of Citronix, DISG, Thermoscribe, Easyprint, OLC and APS have been discounted to their 
estimated present values in accordance with IFRS 3. A finance charge in the year of £525,000 (2007: £446,000) has been incurred as  
a result of this treatment.
       Thermo-   
       scribe Easyprint Total 
Company 2008       £000 £000 £000

Current       – 212 212
Non-current       1,889 1,140 3,029

At 31 October 2008       1,889 1,352 3,241

       Thermo-   
       scribe Easyprint Total 
Company 2007       £000 £000 £000

Current       – – –
Non-current       2,115 2,391 4,506

At 31 October 2007       2,115 2,391 4,506

24. Deferred taxation
(a) Movement in the year
       Assets  Liabilities 
      Group Company Group Company 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred taxation
Balance at 1 November 2007      3,758 1,031 (2,676) (630)
Adjustment in respect of prior year      339 – (370) 69
On recognition of acquired intangible assets (note 16)     – – (1,807) –
Increase/decrease in tax rate      158 – 59 –
Exchange adjustment      668 – (90) –
Tax on items taken directly to equity      (582) (582) – –
Credit/(charge) for the year      352 (163) (248) 6
Other movements      617 – (613) –

At 31 October 2008      5,310 286 (5,745) (555)
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24. Deferred taxation continued
(b) Balances at year end
Deferred taxation balances consist of the following amounts:
        2008 2007 
Group        £000 £000

Assets
Temporary differences relating to: 
– share-based compensation charges        274 1,024
– accrued holiday pay entitlement not taken        123 358
– unutilised tax losses        2,276 1,714
– other temporary differences        2,637 662

        5,310 3,758

Liabilities
Temporary differences relating to:
– capital allowances in excess of depreciation       (1,150) (531)
– valuation of intangibles acquired through business combination      (2,633) (1,393)
– revaluation of properties        (752) (752)
– other temporary differences        (1,210) –

        (5,745) (2,676)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of certain temporary differences, some of which occurred in the current or previous 
year. These assets have only been recognised to the extent that their recovery is reasonably certain during the foreseeable future.

At the end of the year the Group had £1,383,000 of unprovided deferred tax assets (2007: £110,000) relating to tax losses (which  
would become recoverable if appropriate companies were to make taxable profits in the future), unrelieved foreign tax incurred and  
other amounts. 

No provision has been made for UK taxation that would arise in the event that the overseas subsidiaries distributed the balance of  
their reserves.
        2008 2007 
Company        £000 £000

Assets
Temporary differences relating to:
– capital allowances in excess of depreciation       – 7
– share-based compensation charges        274 1,024
– other temporary differences        12 –

        286 1,031

Liabilities
Temporary differences relating to revaluation of properties      (544) (544)
Other temporary differences        (11) (86)

        (555) (630)

At the end of the year the Company had £563,000 of unprovided deferred tax assets (2007: £63,000) relating to unrelieved foreign tax 
incurred and other amounts. 

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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25. Called-up share capital
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Authorised:
155,000,000 (2007: 155,000,000) ordinary shares of 5 pence each      7,750 7,750

Issued and fully paid:
109,088,647 (2007: 111,605,407) ordinary shares of 5 pence each      5,454 5,580

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

During the year a total of 1,078,281 new ordinary shares of 5 pence each (‘shares’) were issued under the Company’s Executive Option 
and SAYE schemes for £1,501,000. The prices at which the shares were issued ranged between 113 pence and 277 pence per share. 
Also during the period, a total of 3,595,041 ordinary shares of 5 pence each were repurchased for £10,215,000 and cancelled. 

26. Share capital and reserves
(a) Movements
 Investment  Called-up Share Capital     
 in own Minority share premium redemption Revaluation Taxation Exchange Retained 
 shares interest capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Group
At 1 November 2006 (2,128) 49 5,554 29,424 728 944 326 (692) 78,861
Shares issued during the year – – 26 860 – – – – –
Shares awarded to share scheme  
 participants 337 – – – – – – – (337)
Own shares acquired (63) – – – – – – – –
Reversal of share based  
 compensation charges – – – – – – – – 1,065
Dividends (note 13) – – – – – – – – (9,755)
Transfer of amount equivalent to  
 additional depreciation on  
 revalued assets – – – – – (13) – – 13
Items reported in the Statement of  
 Recognised Income and Expense – 40 – – – – 355 (724) 22,201

At 1 November 2007 (1,854) 89 5,580 30,284 728 931 681 (1,416) 92,048
Shares issued during the year – – 54 1,447 – – – – –
Shares awarded to share scheme  
 participants 823 – – – – – – – (823)
Own shares acquired (3,080) – – – – – – – –
Share buy-backs and cancellations – – (180) – 180 – – – (10,215)
Minority interest recognised  
 on acquisition – 27 – – – – – – –
Reversal of share-based  
 compensation charges – – – – – – – – 670
Dividends (note 13) – – – – – – – – (11,470)
Transfer of amount equivalent to  
 additional depreciation on  
 revalued assets – – – – – (14) – – 14
Items reported in the Statement of  
 Recognised Income and Expense – 13 – – – – (582) 7,489 16,621

At 31 October 2008 (4,111) 129 5,454 31,731 908 917 99 6,073 86,845

The cumulative amount of goodwill written off directly to reserves is £35.8 million (2007: £35.8 million).
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26. Share capital and reserves continued
 Investment Called-up Share Capital     Merger  
 in own share premium redemption Revaluation Taxation Exchange premium Retained 
 shares capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Company
At 1 November 2006 (1,959) 5,554 29,424 728 692 326 (96) 22,869 14,228
Shares issued during the year – 26 860 – – – – – –
Shares awarded to share scheme  
 participants 337 – – – – – – – (337)
Reversal of share-based  
 compensation charges – – – – – – – – 1,006
Dividends (note 13) – – – – – – – – (9,755)
Reclassification of prior year gains  
 on cash flow hedges – – – – – – (733) – 733
Items reported in the Statement of  
 Recognised Income and Expense – – – – – 355 (180) – 8,167

At 1 November 2007 (1,622) 5,580 30,284 728 692 681 (1,009) 22,869 14,042
Shares issued during the year – 54 1,447 – – – – – –
Shares awarded to share scheme  
 participants 823 – – – – – – – (823)
Buyback and cancellation  
 of shares – (180) – 180 – – – – (10,215)
Acquisition of LTIP shares (3,016) – – – – – – – –
Reversal of share-based  
 compensation charges  – – – – – – – – 609
Dividends (note 13) – – – – – – – – (11,470)
Items reported in the Statement of  
 Recognised Income and Expense – – – – – (582) 3,766 – 8,944

At 31 October 2008 (3,815) 5,454 31,731 908 692 99 2,757 22,869 1,087

(b) Investment in own shares
The Domino Printing Sciences Employee Benefit Trust holds 1,528,782 (2007: 1,034,061) ordinary shares of 5 pence each. This 
represents 1 per cent of issued shares at 31 October 2008. The shares are stated at cost. The market value of these shares at 
31 October 2008 was £3,042,276 (2007: £3,381,379).

The QUEST holds 35,867 (2007: 35,867) ordinary shares of 5 pence each intended to satisfy SAYE options under the Domino Printing 
Sciences plc Savings Related Option Scheme 1993, which are held at nil valuation. The market value of these shares at 31 October 2008 
was £71,375 (2006: £117,285).

The Halifax Corporate Trustee Limited holds 111,222 (2007: 88,641) ordinary shares of 5 pence each intended to satisfy obligations  
under the Domino Share Incentive Plan which are held at cost. The market value of these shares at 31 October 2008 was £221,332 
(2007: £289,856).

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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27. Derivative financial instruments
The Group’s treasury and currency policies are described in the Business Review on page 22. 

The Company is party to a number of forward foreign exchange contracts, which are used to hedge significant future transactions and 
expected cash flows in foreign currencies. The instruments purchased are primarily in the currencies of the Group’s principal markets.

At the balance sheet date, the total amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to which the Company is committed are 
as below (at contractual rates):
         Group and 
         Company 
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Forward foreign exchange contracts        18,637 18,378

These arrangements are designed to address significant exchange exposures for the coming year and are renewed on a revolving basis 
in line with the Group’s treasury policy.

At 31 October 2008, the fair value of the Group’s and the Company’s forward contracts is estimated to be a net liability of approximately 
£1,637,000 (2007: a net asset of £26,000). These amounts are based on the market values of equivalent instruments at the balance sheet 
date and comprise £75,000 (2007: £273,000) of financial assets and £1,712,000 (2007: £247,000) of financial liabilities. 

All of the Group’s forward contracts are designated as effective cash flow hedges under IAS 39 for the purposes of hedge accounting 
and the movement in the value between 1 November 2007 and 31 October 2008 has been taken directly to equity in the consolidated 
accounts. In the Company, the movement in value has been taken through the income statement, in accordance with the provisions  
of IAS 39.

28. Borrowings
In order to service its global funding requirements, the Group is financed by a mixture of cash, short term borrowings and local  
overdraft facilities.
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Bank overdrafts       780 1,305 3,314 2,658
Bank loans      14,275 – – –
Other loans      302 344 – –

      15,357 1,649 3,314 2,658

Secured borrowing at amortised cost
Bank loans      295 226 – –

      295 226 – –

Total borrowings at amortised cost
Amounts due within 12 months      14,709 1,305 3,314 2,658 
Amounts due after 12 months      943 570 – –

      15,652 1,875 3,314 2,658

Analysis of borrowings by currency:
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Sterling      – – 3,314 2,658
Euro      14,377 20 – –
US dollar      1,074 1,335 – –
Other      201 520 – –

      15,652 1,875 3,314 2,658
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28. Borrowings continued
The other principal features of the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

(i) Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand. Overdrafts are not secured.
(ii) The Group has two principal bank loans:

•	 A	loan	of	€14,000,000	(2007:	€nil).	The	loan	was	advanced	on	27	August	2008	under	the	Group’s	revolving	loan	facility	for	an	initial	
term of three months. The loan carries a fixed interest rate at 5.575 per cent per annum. 

•	 A	loan	of	€2,800,000	million	(2007:	€nil).	The	loan	was	advanced	on	30	September	2008	under	the	Group’s	revolving	loan	facility	for	
an initial term of three months. The loan carries fixed interest rate at 5.775 per cent per annum. 

The weighted average interest rates paid during the year were as follows:
        2008 2007 
        Per cent Per cent

Bank overdrafts        5.74 8.14
Bank loans        5.66 5.37

29. Operating lease arrangements
(a) The Group as lessee
At 31 October 2008, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases which fall due as follows:

      Land and  Land and  
      buildings Other buildings Other 
      2008 2008 2007 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year      1,547 1,490 1,110 1,200
In the second to fifth years      2,995 2,329 1,839 1,641
After more than five years      337 – 345 18

      4,879 3,819 3,294 2,859

The majority of leases of land and buildings are subject to rent review at periodic intervals ranging between three and five years.

(b) The Group as lessor
The Group offers operating lease packages (‘pay per code’ arrangements) to customers comprising machine, related consumables, 
spare parts and service support. Revenues realised under such arrangements were £3,484,000 for the year ended 31 October 2008 
(2007: £2,895,000).

At 31 October 2008, the Group had contracted with customers for the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases: 
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Within one year        1,973 2,460
In the second to fifth years        2,613 3,788

        4,586 6,248

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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30. Financial Instruments
Financial risk management
The Group has exposure to the following key risks related to its financial instruments:

(i) Credit risk.
(ii) Market risk.
(iii) Liquidity risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these 
consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.

Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.

The Audit Committee of the Board oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management framework in 
relation to the risks faced by the Group.

Capital risk management
The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to retain investor, creditor and market confidence and to support future 
development of the business. Domino intends to reinvest its surplus cash balances in the business either through higher levels of 
investment in working capital and fixed assets or through further acquisition activity to support the long term ambitions of the Group. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, bank loans as disclosed in note 28 and equity attributable to 
the equity holders of Domino Printing Sciences plc, comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in notes 
25 and 26. 

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and 
the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity 
instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.

Categories of financial instruments
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets
Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships   75 273 75 273
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)    78,626 77,678 22,190 29,945
Available for sale financial assets      1,494 1,674 1,484 1,484

      80,195 79,625 23,749 31,702

Financial liabilities
Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships   (1,712) (247) (1,712) (247)
Amortised cost      (85,782) (60,299) (49,622) (46,409)

      (87,494) (60,546) (51,334) (46,656)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the Group’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. 

The Group manages foreign currency risk as detailed below. The Group does not currently enter into any interest rate swaps or other 
derivative financial instruments to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.
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30. Financial Instruments continued
Foreign currency risk management
The Group manufactures products in the UK, Europe, the USA and Asia and sells its products and services across global markets in a 
range of currencies. This creates an exposure to both transactional and translational risk as rates of exchange fluctuate. Exchange rate 
exposures are managed within approved treasury policy parameters utilising forward foreign exchange contracts. 

The Group is principally exposed to the impact of movements in the euro, the US dollar and the Chinese renminbi. The carrying amounts 
of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in these currencies at the reporting date are as follows:

       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Assets
Euro      22,992 18,325 1,745 2,074
US dollar      18,011 9,962 1,426 924
RMB      8,922 7,913 – –

      49,925 36,200 3,171 2,998

Liabilities
Euro      (27,600) (10,740) – –
US dollar      (10,569) (7,625) – –
RMB      (5,519) (4,624) – –

      (43,688) (22,989) – –

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10 per cent increase and decrease in sterling against the relevant foreign 
currencies. Ten per cent represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. 

The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact of a 10 per cent change in foreign currency rates on:

(i) Foreign currency monetary assets and monetary liabilities outstanding at the balance sheet date.
(ii) The value to the Group of its investments in foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is the euro, the US dollar or the  

Chinese renminbi. 

        Equity Profit or loss 
Group        £000 £000

2008
Euro        1,002 81
US dollar        1,701 1,543
RMB        378 400

        3,081 2,024

2007
Euro        2,299 (63)
US dollar        882 726
RMB        260 303

        3,441 966

        Equity Profit or loss 
Company        £000 £000

2008
Euro        1,858 (81)
US dollar        874 775

        2,732 694

2007
Euro        1,551 (287)
US dollar        679 427

        2,230 140

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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30. Financial Instruments continued
The movement in profit for the year is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to exchange movements in US dollar, euro and renminbi 
denominated monetary assets and liabilities. The movement in equity is mainly as a result of the Group’s exposure to its investments in 
subsidiaries in Europe, the USA and China, in addition to US dollar and euro denominated long term intercompany loans made by the 
parent company.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis above is not fully representative of the inherent foreign exchange risk to which the Group 
is exposed as it does not take account of the impact on the income statement of translation of the annual profits and losses made by 
overseas subsidiaries.

Forward foreign exchange contracts
It is the policy of the Group to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover anticipated receipts and purchases in selected 
foreign currencies within 50 per cent to 90 per cent of the net exposure generated. Contracts denominated in euros and US dollars are 
placed on a rolling 12 month basis. Smaller contracts are also placed, typically over no more than three months, in a variety of other 
currencies in which the Group trades.

All of the Group’s forward foreign exchange contracts are designated as effective cash flow hedges under IAS 39 for the purposes of  
hedge accounting.

The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with forward foreign exchange contracts that are designated 
as cash flow hedges are expected to occur:
     Carrying Expected Less than 3 3–6 6–12 
     amount cashflows months months months 
Group and Company     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2008
Forward foreign exchange contracts     (1,637) 18,637 5,260 5,553 7,824

2007
Forward foreign exchange contracts     26 18,378 4,374 4,607 9,397

Interest rate risk management and sensitivity
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow and deposit funds at both fixed and floating interest rates.  
The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate cash deposits and borrowings.

The sensitivity analysis below assumes that for floating rate cash deposits and liabilities, the quantum as at the balance sheet date was  
in place for the whole year.

If interest rates had been 1 per cent higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 
31 October 2008 would increase/decrease by £110,000. The Company’s profit for the year ended 31 October 2008 would increase/
decrease by £56,000.

Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group 
has adopted a cautious approach to credit risk management, only entering into transactions with counterparties with recognised credit 
ratings; either through independent third party appraisal or through the Group’s own trading records and other publicly available financial 
information. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and credit exposure is 
controlled by counterparty limits. 

The Group seeks to limit credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments through trading only with counterparties that are 
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

Disclosures related to the credit risk associated with trade receivables are presented in note 20.
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30. Financial Instruments continued
Liquidity risk management
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

The following tables detail the Group’s and the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group 
can be required to pay. 

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. The contractual maturity of derivative financial instruments is considered in 
note 27.

     Less than  
     1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years >5 years Total 
Group     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2008
Non-interest bearing     50,848 90 – – 50,938
Fixed interest rate instruments     16,367 3,330 15,538 330 35,565
Variable interest rate instruments     852 – – – 852

     68,067 3,420 15,538 330 87,355

2007
Non-interest bearing     45,694 127 – – 45,821
Fixed interest rate instruments     1,262 2,437 11,541 – 15,240
Variable interest rate instruments     1,012 – – – 1,012

     47,968 2,564 11,541 – 62,073

     Less than  
     1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years >5 years Total 
Company     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2008
Non-interest bearing     43,067 – – – 43,067
Fixed interest rate instruments     212 273 3,153 – 3,638
Variable interest rate instruments     3,314 – – – 3,314

     46,593 273 3,153 – 50,019

2007
Non-interest bearing     39,245 – – – 39,245
Fixed interest rate instruments     – 93 5,301 – 5,394
Variable interest rate instruments     2,658 – – – 2,658

     41,903 93 5,301 – 47,297

The liquidity risk inherent in the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities is managed in conjunction with non-derivative 
financial assets.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

(i) The fair value of a non-derivative financial asset and financial liability is the carrying amount, as this approximates their fair value.
(ii) The fair value of a derivative is estimated by calculating the difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward 

price at the balance sheet date for the residual maturity of the contract.

The carrying amounts of all financial assets and liabilities in the financial statements approximate their fair values.

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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31. Financial commitments and contingent liabilities
(a) Future capital expenditure
       Group  Company 
      2008 2007 2008 2007 
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Contracted for but not provided in the accounts     130  142 – –

(b) Contingent liabilities
The Company has provided guarantees in respect of the borrowing facilities of subsidiary companies, which amount to £18,464,000 
(2007: £17,818,000). At the balance sheet date, there were net borrowings against these facilities of £14,148,000 (2007: £1,208,000).

32. Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not 
disclosed in this note. Transactions between the Group and its associate are disclosed below. Transactions between the Company and 
its subsidiaries and associate are also disclosed below.

(a) Trading transactions
During the year, Group companies entered into the following transactions with related parties who are not members of the Group:

    Amounts   Amounts
    owed to   owed by
   Sale of  related Purchase  related
   goods  parties of goods  parties
  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Associates
Mectec BV  336 276 22 – 37 2 60 89

Sale of goods to related parties were made at the Group’s usual list prices. Purchases were made at market price discounted to reflect 
the quantity of goods purchased and the relationships between the parties.

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received. No provisions have 
been made for doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.

(b) Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the Executive Directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set out below in aggregate for each 
of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. Further information about the remuneration of individual directors is 
provided in note 7 which constitutes the audited part of the Remuneration Report.
        2008 2007 
        £000 £000

Short term employee benefits        1,282 1,218
Post-employment benefits        230 217
Other long term benefits        1,089 212
Gains on share options        27 –

        2,628 1,647

(c) Company
The Company has provided guarantees to banks in respect of the borrowing facilities held by subsidiary companies. Details of the 
borrowing balances are given in note 28.

Other transactions with related parties include the receipt of dividends of £6,517,000 (2007: £7,709,000) from subsidiary companies.
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33. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statements
(a) Net cash inflow from operating activities

        2008 2007 
Group        £000 £000

Operating profit        25,290 31,470

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment       4,828 4,178
Amortisation of intangible assets acquired through business combination     1,283 770
Amortisation of other intangible assets        328 432
Share-based compensation charges        670 1,065
Decrease/(increase) in inventories*        3,480 (1,460)
Increase in receivables*        (3,469) (1,082)
Decrease in payables*        (2,125) (319)
Increase in restructuring and redundancy provisions       4,914 –
Non-cash write down of goodwill and acquisition intangibles      3,069 –
Other non-cash items        227 84

Net cash inflow from operating activities before taxation      38,495 35,138

Tax paid        (10,572) (9,485)

Net cash inflow from operating activities       27,923 25,653

*Net of effect of change in exchange rates.

        2008 2007 
Company        £000 £000

Operating profit        8,801 7,195

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment       2 2
Amortisation of intangible assets        56 28
Interest received from subsidiary undertakings       1,317 1,318
Interest paid to subsidiary undertakings        (166) (313)
Repayment of long term loans made to subsidiaries       203 1,023
New long term loans made to subsidiaries        (987) –
Payment of loan notes        – (317)
Payment of deferred consideration        (72) –
Share-based compensation charges        609 1,006
Increase in receivables         (905) (1,272)
Increase in payables         3,390 3,474
Non-cash movement arising on investment adjustment       (3,504) 514
Losses on cash flow hedges        1,663 707

Net cash inflow from operating activities before taxation      10,407 13,365

Tax paid        (720) (747)

Net cash inflow from operating activities       9,687 12,618

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 31 October 2008
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33. Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statements continued
(b) Analysis of net outflow of cash in respect of acquisitions and disposals

        2008 2007 
Group        £000 £000

Purchase of subsidiary undertakings (see below)       19,543 3,116

    Belgian    Total Total 
    business Photon APS PAT 2008 2007 
    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Purchase of subsidiaries including acquisition costs   3,140 3,527 11,293 1,128 19,088 3,142
Acquired with subsidiaries:
– Cash    – (64) (47) (13) (124) (26)
– Overdrafts     – 475 104 – 579 –

    3,140 3,938 11,350 1,115 19,543 3,116
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Additional Information

Investor Information

Share price
Information about the Company’s share price may be obtained 
from the following sources:

FT Cityline Service Telephone 09058 171 690
The financial pages of The Financial Times newspaper
Website at www.domino-printing.com
Other financial websites under the EPIC symbol DNO

Shareholder enquiries
All administrative enquiries regarding shareholdings such as 
questions about dividend payment or lost share certificates 
should be addressed to the Company’s Registrars:

Capita Registrars
Northern House
Woodsome Park
Fenay Bridge
Huddersfield
West Yorkshire
HD8 0LA
T: 0871 664 0300 (calls cost 10 pence  
per minute plus network extras)
T (overseas): +44 208 639 2157 
email: ssd@capitaregistrars.com
Website at www.capitaregistrars.com

Information rights of beneficial owners’ shares
Please note that beneficial owners of shares who have been 
nominated by the registered holder of those shares to receive 
information rights under section 146 of the Companies Act  
2006 are required to direct all communications to the registered 
holder of their shares rather than to the Company’s Registrar, 
Capita Registrars.

Company Secretary 
Richard J Pryn LLB

Investor contact
Andrew Herbert
Group Finance Director
Domino Printing Sciences plc
Trafalgar Way
Bar Hill
Cambridge 
CB23 8TU
T: +44 (0) 1954 781 888
F: +44 (0) 1954 782 713
email: andrew.herbert@domino-uk.com

Information
Information about the Company is available on the Internet. 
Domino’s website address is www.domino-printing.com

The website has general information about the Group and details 
of its product ranges. The text of Domino’s results announcements 
is also posted on this site.

Timetable
6 March 2009 Record date for final dividend 
19 March 2009 Annual General Meeting
9 April 2009 Payment date for final dividend
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Deloitte LLP, Cambridge 
Auditors

Ashurst, London
Solicitors

Simmons & Simmons, London
Solicitors

National Westminster Bank plc, Cambridge
Principal Bankers

NM Rothschild & Sons Limited, London 
Merchant Bankers

RBS Hoare Govett Limited, London 
Stockbrokers

Capita Registrars
Registrars

Smithfield Consultants Limited
Financial Public Relations
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Group Directory

Holding Company

Mr Nigel Bond
Managing Director
Domino Printing Sciences plc
Trafalgar Way
Bar Hill
Cambridge
CB23 8TU
UK
T: +44 1954 782 551
F: +44 1954 782 874 

Domino

Mr Yann Gorrity
General Manager
Domino SAS
ZA du Bel Air
2 Rue Mege Mouries
78120 Rambouillet
France
T: +33 1 3046 5678
F: +33 1 3046 5679

Mr Erich Jax
General Manager
Domino Deutschland GmbH
Lorenz-Schott-Straße 3
D-55252 Mainz-Kastel
Germany
T: +49 61 34 25 0 50
F: +49 61 34 25 0 55

Mr Paul Donkers
Principal
Domino Amjet BV
Ambachtsweg 8
3991 LH Houten
The Netherlands
T: +31 30 636 3333
F: +31 30 636 3344

Mr Antonio Gutiérrez
General Manager
Domino Amjet Ibérica SA
Avenida Fuente Nueva, 14
28700 San Sebastian  
de los Reyes
Madrid
Spain
T: +34 9165 42141
F: +34 9162 39444

Mr Garry Havens
Managing Director
Domino UK Ltd
Trafalgar Way
Bar Hill
Cambridge
CB23 8TU
UK
T: +44 1954 782 551
F: +44 1954 782 874
 

Mr Hans Robert Dapprich
Managing Director
Pri-Ma-Tech GmbH
Pastorstraße 16
56751 Polch
Germany
T: +49 2654 96440
F: +49 2654 964420

Mr Mike Brown
President
Domino Printing Solutions Inc.
2751 Coventry Road
Oakville
Ontario
L6H 5V9
Canada
T: +19 05 829 2430
F: +19 05 829 1842

Mr Constantino de Llano
General Manager
Domino Printing Mexico
SA de C V
Calle 3, No 47-F6
Naucalpan
Edo. de Mexico 53370
Mexico
T: +525 55 576 7979
F: +525 55 576 0185

Mr Mike Brown
President
Domino Amjet Inc.
1290 Lakeside Drive
Gurnee
Illinois 60031
USA
T: +1 847 244 2501
F: +1 847 244 1421

Mr Hans Schreuders
General Manager
Domino UK Ltd
PO Box 16984
Jebel Ali Freezone
Dubai
UAE
T: +971 4883 5003
F: +971 4883 5467

Mr Mikkel Wichmann
Managing Director
Easyprint A/S
Metalgangen 19F
DK-2690 Karlslunde
Denmark
T: +45 46 15 41 40
F: +45 46 15 41 70

Mr Rajiv Chaudhary
General Manager
Domino (Australia) Pty Ltd
1, Neutron Place
Rowville
Melbourne
Victoria 3178
Australia
T: +61 3 9764 8485
F: +61 3 9764 8494

Mr Henrik Lundsgaard
Managing Director
Domino China Ltd.
No 1150 Yun Qiao Road
Jin Qiao Export Processing 
Zone, Pudong
Shanghai 201206
PR China
T: +86 21505 09999
F: +86 21503 29901

Mr Rajiv Khanna
Managing Director
Domino Printech
India Private Ltd
167 Udyog Vihar
Phase 1
Gurgaon – 122016
Haryana
India
T: +91 124 500 7406
F: +91 124 234 7408

Mr K H Kim
General Manager
Domino Korea Pte Ltd
1st-3rd FL Rich Town
Bldg. #694 Bokjeong-dong
Sujeong-gu
Seongnam-city
Gyeonggi-do
461 – 200
Korea
T: +82 2 797 1811
F: +82 2 796 8817

Additional Information
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Purex

Mr Paul Priestley
Managing Director
Purex International Ltd
Purex House
Farfield Park
Manvers
Rotherham
South Yorkshire
S63 5DB
UK
T: +44 1709 763000
F: +44 1709 763001

Mr Wayne Baird
Managing Director
Purex North America Ltd
358 Joseph Carrier
Vaudreuil-Dorion
Quebec
Canada
T: +1 450 424 4663
F: +1 450 424 4665

Wiedenbach

Mr Frank Eickenberg
Managing Director
Wiedenbach Apparatebau 
GmbH
Gewerbestraße 13
78345 Moos
Germany
T: +49 7732 99440
F: +49 7732 994454

Sator

Mr Thorsten Foecking
Managing Director
Sator Laser GmbH
Fangdieckstraße 75a
22547 Hamburg
Germany
T: +49 40 888 880
F: +49 40 888 88199

Control

Mr Erich Jax
Managing Director
Control Information Technology 
GmbH
In den Wiesen 38
56070 Koblenz
Germany
T: +49 261 92748 0
F: +49 261 92748 480

Photon Energy

Dr Hans Amler
Managing Director
Photon Energy GmbH
Bräunleinsberg 10
91242 Ottensoos
Germany
T: +49 9123 99034 0
F: +49 9123 99034 22 

APS

Mr Werner Schaffer
Managing Director
aps Alternative Printing 
Services GmbH
Behringstr. 7
71083 Herrenberg
Germany
T: +49 7032  9164 01
F: +49 7032  9164 03

Mectec

Mr Patrik Jenemark
Managing Director
Mectec Elektronik AB
Angnesfridsvägen 189
SE-213 75 Malmö
Sweden
T: +46 40 689 25 00
F: +46 40 689 25 25

Citronix

Mr Richard Fox
President
Citronix LP
3030 SE Loop 820
Fort Worth
Texas 76140
USA
T: +1 817 568 9800
F: +1 817 568 1970

Domino Integrated 
Solutions

Mr B Dwain Farley
President
Domino Integrated Solutions 
Americas Inc.
2591 Dallas Parkway
Suite 300
Frisco
Texas 75034
USA
T: +1 877 895 2896
F: +1 928 569 2891
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Notes



Founded in 1978, Domino has 
established a global reputation 
for the development and 
manufacture of coding, marking 
and printing technologies that 
meet the needs of manufacturers 
and set new industry standards  
in quality and reliability.
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